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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of FDB Holdings Limited (the “Company”), 
it is my pleasure to present the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023, due to the combined effect of the coronavirus outbreak, cash crunch 
of Chinese real estate developers and the economic downturn, the total revenue of the Group has reduced by 
45.7% from approximately HK$357.2 million for the corresponding period in 2022 to approximately HK$193.8 
million. 

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT
The Hong Kong construction industry are still facing severe challenges. The main risks are interest rate hike, cash 
crunch of Chinese real estate developers, supply chain disruptions and labor shortages. Despite the prevailing 
uncertainties, the Company is confident about the prospects of the business and will continue to explore 
different opportunities to maximize shareholders’ interests.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I wish to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to our shareholders, clients, 
business partners, financing banks and suppliers who trust and remain faithful to the Group. I would also like 
to express our sincere gratitude and appreciation to the management and staff for their commitment and 
contribution to the continued success of the business throughout the years.

Ng Kin Siu
Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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INTRODUCTION
As at 31 December 2023, the principal business activity of the Group is engaged in the provision of contracting 
services for alteration and addition works, maintenance, specialist works and new development in Hong Kong. 
The Group provides a one-stop integrated solution from project planning, resources allocation, subcontractor 
management and material procurement to monitoring and quality assurance, and to offering value-adding 
services such as providing advice on designs to the Group’s customers.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
During the Year, the Group continued to develop contracting services in Hong Kong.

With the effect of the economic downturn under interest rate hike and cash crunch of Chinese real estate 
developers, the Group experienced a substantial decline in revenue with reduction in number of ongoing projects 
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2022. Additionally, an impairment loss from expected credit loss 
for contract assets further contributed to the severity of the loss.

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group has embarked on several new projects. With the backing of the 
total contract sum of approximately HK$566.5 million from the backlog projects, it is anticipated that there will be 
an improvement in both the financial performance and the financial position in the coming years.

Looking forward, the Group will conduct a detailed review of the existing principal business operations and 
financial position of the Group for the purpose of formulating a sustainable business plan or strategy for the 
Group’s future development. In particular, the Group will look into business and investment opportunities 
in different business areas and geographical locations and consider whether any asset disposals, asset 
acquisitions, business rationalisation, business divestment, fund raising, and/or restructuring of the business 
will be appropriate in order to enhance the long-term growth potential of the Group. The Group also intends 
to leverage upon the expertise and business opportunities that Mr. Ng may have in his sectors of real estate 
development, property project management and financial services and expand the income stream of the Group. 
Further announcement(s) in this regard will be made as and when appropriate.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
During the Year, due to the slow down of the economy in Hong Kong, the revenue of the Group decreased by 
approximately HK$163.4 million or 45.7% to approximately HK$193.8 million (2022: HK$357.2 million). The Group 
recorded a gross loss of approximately HK$7.2 million (2022: gross profit of HK$7.3 million). During the Year, the 
Group recognised impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal of approximately HK$35.9 million (2022: 
HK$6.3 million). As a result, the Group recorded a net loss for the Year of approximately HK$59.3 million (2022: 
net loss of HK$1.6 million) attributable to owners of the Company from continuing operations.

Other income

Other income amounted to approximately HK$0.4 million for the Year (2022: HK$8.0 million), representing a 

decrease of approximately 95.0%, which due to the one-off income that only included for the year ended 31 

December 2022 comprising approximately HK$2.3 million of government grant and the Group has released 

approximately HK$4.8 million of accruals balances that has past due over 6 years but no invoices received after 

contact.

Impairment losses, net of reversal

During the Year, the impairment losses, net of reversal increased by approximately HK$29.6 million or 469.8% to 

approximately HK$35.9 million (2022: HK$6.3 million) which is in relation to construction segment services.

Details of impairment losses, net of reversal for the Year:

Impairment losses recognised on:
Non credit-

 impaired
HK$ million

Trade and retention receivables 4.6
Other receivables and deposits (0.1)
Contract assets 31.4  
Total 35.9  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL by using a 

provision matrix on a portfolio basis with reference to the Company’s historical and the counterparties’ industry 

default data, among others, historical aging schedules, settlement and default records, industry credit data and 

default records, and forward-looking information. The core inputs of the assessment models are consistent with 

last year. The Group has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the 12-month or lifetime ECL with 

reference to the Company’s historical and the counterparties’ industry default data, among others, historical 

aging schedules, settlement and default records, industry credit data and default records, and forward-looking 

information. The Group has engaged an independent valuer to perform impairment assessment. The core inputs 

of the assessment models are consistent with last year.

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with 
customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of trade debt and 
contract assets, especially with the Chinese real estate developers, at the end of the reporting period to ensure 
that adequate impairment loss is recognised for irrecoverable amount.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as at 31 December 2023 on the trade and retention 
receivables from the Group’s five major customers amounting to approximately HK$43.1 million (2022: HK$51.1 
million) and accounted for 55% (2022: 84%) of the Group’s total trade and retention receivables. In the opinion of 
the directors of the Company, the major customers of the Group are reputable organisation in the market. The 
directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is limited in this regard. In addition, the Group performs 
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. Credit-
impaired debtors are assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade and retention receivables and 
contract assets are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference 
to repayment histories for recurring customers and current past due exposure for the new customers. During 
the Year, net impairment losses of approximately HK$4.6 million and HK$31.4 million (2022: HK$1.0 million and 
HK$5.8 million) are recognised for trade and retention receivables and contract assets, respectively.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately HK$4.9 million or 22.9% from approximately 
HK$21.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$16.5 million for the Year. Such 
decrease was primarily due to our cost control measure implementation during the Year.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Finance costs
Finance costs of the Group increased by approximately 100.0% from approximately HK$0.1 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$0.2 million for the Year, as the interest on lease liabilities 
increased for the Year.

Income tax expense
The Group had no income tax expenses for the Year, as there is no assessable profit recorded. For the year 
ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded income tax credit of approximately HK$36,000.

Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary
During the year end 31 December 2022, a winding-up order was made by the High Court against Jet Speed 
Asia Pacific Limited (“Jet Speed”) at the hearing of the Petition on 27 April 2022 pursuant to the Companies 
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and liquidators 
have been appointed for Jet Speed. As a result of the liquidation and appointment of liquidators, the Group lost 
control over Jet Speed and it ceased to be subsidiary of the Company with effect from 27 April 2022. A gain on 
deconsolidation of the subsidiary of approximately HK$10.9 million was recognised in the consolidated profit or 
loss for the year end 31 December 2022.

Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations was approximately HK$0.6 million for the year end 31 December 
2022. It was primarily attributable to gain on disposal of Growth Profit during the year end 31 December 2022.

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the 
Company
Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was approximately HK$59.3 million for the Year 
(2022: HK$1.0 million). It was primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) the decrease in revenue of construction 
segment services; and (ii) the increase in impairment losses recorded for the Year.

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company was approximately HK$59.3 
million (2022: HK$0.9 million).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Net cash position
The amounts due to a shareholder increased by approximately HK$7.5 million to approximately HK$15.5 million 
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$8.0 million). Bank balances and cash and pledged deposits as 
at 31 December 2023 increased by approximately HK$6.1 million to approximately HK$58.6 million (31 December 
2022: HK$52.5 million). Therefore, the net cash position of the Group decrease to approximately HK$43.1 million 
(31 December 2022: HK$44.5 million).

Structure of bank overdrafts and bank borrowings and amounts due to a shareholder
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had amounts due to a shareholder amounted to approximately HK$15.5 
million (31 December 2022: HK$8.0 million), and the Group had no bank overdraft or bank borrowing in both 
years.

Liquidity ratios and gearing ratios
The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was 0.98 times (31 December 2022: 1.27 times).

The gearing ratio, calculated based on the total borrowings including bank borrowings and amounts due to a 
shareholder divided by total equity at the end of the Relevant Period and multiplied by 100%. As at 31 December 
2023, the gearing ratio was negative (31 December 2022: approximately 16.4%), due to the total deficit at the end 
of the Year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Funding policy and treasury policy
The Group maintains a prudent funding and treasury policy of its overall business operations to minimise 
financial risks. Surplus funds are generally placed in short term deposits denominated primarily in Hong Kong 
Dollars. All future projects will be financed by cash flows from operations, banking facilities, or any forms of 
financing available in Hong Kong.

The Group regularly monitors its liquidity requirements and its relationship with bankers to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and an adequate committed line of funding from major financial institutions 
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s issued share capital was approximately HK$13.3 million (31 December 
2022: HK$13.3 million) and the number of issued ordinary shares was 1,332,000,000 (31 December 2022: 
1,332,000,000) of HK$0.01 each.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION
Most of the transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the Group is not exposed to any 
significant foreign exchange exposure.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS
Whilst the Group will continue to solidify its business and clientele in the construction industry, the Group will 
look into business and investment opportunities for business expansion and capital injection in order to enhance 
the long-term growth potential of the Group, as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have other plans for 
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
AFFILIATED COMPANIES
There was no significant event that took place during the Year, subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the 
date of this report.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged its bank deposit of approximately HK$23.4 million (31 December 
2022: HK$20.9 million) to secure the guaranteed credit facilities for issuing surety bonds and general banking 
facilities amounting to approximately HK$41.7 million (31 December 2022: HK$41.7 million).

SURETY BONDS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Certain customers of construction contracts undertaken by the Group require the Group entities to issue 
guarantees for performance of contract works in the form of surety bonds secured by pledged deposits. In 
addition, the Group provided a counter-indemnity to the financial institutions which have issued such surety 
bonds.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding amount of surety bonds of the Group was approximately HK$41.7 
million (2022: HK$41.7 million).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any other material contingent 
liabilities.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 69 employees (2022: 88 employees). The staff costs, 
including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group were approximately HK$34.4 million for the Year (2022: HK$46.6 
million). Remuneration is determined with reference to market terms and the performance, qualification and 
experience of the individual employee. In addition to a basic salary, year-end discretionary bonuses were offered 
to staff with outstanding performance to attract and retain eligible employees to contribute to the Group. Apart 
from basic remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible employees by reference to the Group’s 
performance as well as individual contribution.

LITIGATION
During the Relevant Period, the Group was not engaged in any litigation, arbitration, or claim which was pending 
or threatening by third parties against any member of the Group that would have a material advise effect on the 
Group’s results of operations or financial conditions. There are also no material developments to other litigations 
involving the Group reported in prior period.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing 
Rules.

Except for the disclosure below, the Board has complied with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code 
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms no 
less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Company 
had also made specific enquiry of all the Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with 
the required standard of dealings regarding securities transactions by the Directors during the year ended 31 
December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this report, the Board comprised four Directors, including one executive Director, namely Mr. 
Ng Kin Siu (“Mr. Ng”), and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Mr. Lau Kwok 
Fai Patrick and Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE BOARD MEMBERS
To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business, family relationship among the Directors. All 
of them are free to exercise their independent judgments.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Under code provision C.2.1. of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman (the “Chairman”) of the Board and the 
chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) should be separated and should not 
be performed by the same individual. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separated 
to ensure a clear division between the Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board and the Chief Executive 
Officer’s responsibility to manage the Company’s business. The separation ensures a balance of power and 
authority so that power is not concentrated.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Ng was both the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman’s main role is 
to lead the Board in discharging its powers and duties, while the Chief Executive Officer’s main role is to lead the 
management of the Company for undertaking all the responsibilities delegated by the Board and managing the 
overall operation of the Group. The Board considered that this structure could enhance efficiency in formulation 
and implementation of the Company’s strategies.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is pleased to report compliance with all applicable code provisions of the CG 
Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD
The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility for 
leadership and control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company 
by directing and supervising its affairs. All the Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of 
the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Board has full support from the executive Directors and the 
senior management of the Company to discharge its responsibilities.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the executive 
Directors and the senior management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically 
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions being entered into 
by the executive Director(s) and senior management. The Board also assumes the responsibilities of maintaining 
a high standard of corporate governance, including, among others, developing and reviewing the Company’s 
policies and practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices 
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG 
Code. All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable 
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective delivery of the 
Board functions. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit 
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee 
(the “Nomination Committee”) of the Company.

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of 
legal actions against its directors arising out of corporate activities.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) for the year ended 31 
December 2023 and up to the date of this corporate governance report. A summary of this Board Diversity 
Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for implementing this Board Diversity Policy, and the 
progress made towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy
The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a diverse Board to the quality of its performance. 
The Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the 
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number of measurable aspects including 
gender, age, ethnicity, knowledge and length of services. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, 
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board.

Measurable Objectives
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, 
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of 
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring 
to the Board. The Board believes that such merit-based appointments will best enable the Company to serve 
its shareholders and other stakeholders going forward. The Board will give adequate consideration to the Board 
Diversity Policy when it identifies suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Implementation and Monitorings
The Nomination Committee reviews the Board’s composition from diversified perspectives, and monitors the 
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy at least annually. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the 
Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved the Board Diversity 
Policy during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Company has also taken, and will continue to take steps 
to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and senior 
management levels. While we recognise that gender diversity at the Board level can be improved given its 
current composition of all-male Directors, the Company will continue to apply the principle of appointments 
based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.

Up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board is disclosed as below:

0

2

4

1

3
>3 years

Length of 
Directorship

INED

<3 yearsED

 Male Chinese

Gender EthnicityDesignation
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND PROCEDURES
During the year ended 31 December 2023, two Board meetings were held. The attendance record of each 
Director at the Board meetings is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors

Number of  
Board meetings  

attended/number of  
Board meetings which 

required attendance

Executive Director:
Mr. Ng Kin Siu 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang 2/2
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony 1/2 (Note 1)
Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick 2/2
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin 2/2

Note 1: Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony retired as independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one General meeting of the Company held. The attendance record of 
each Director at the general meetings is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors

Number of  
general meetings 

attended/number of 
general meetings which 

required attendance

Executive Director:
Mr. Ng Kin Siu 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang 1/1
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony — (Note 1)
Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick 1/1
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin 1/1

Note 1: Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony retired as independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is responsible for performing 
the corporate governance functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices 
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 
management, and the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. 
The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance 
manual applicable to employees and Directors and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code of 
conduct and disclosure in the corporate governance report. The Board holds meetings from time to time 
whenever necessary. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and they can 
include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think fit. The agenda accompanying Board papers are sent 
to all the Directors at least 3 days before the date of every Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the 
Directors to review the documents.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their perusal and comments prior to 
confirmation. The Board also ensures that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary information in a 
form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring 
that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are also entitled to have 
full access to Board papers and related materials so that they are able to make an informed decision and to 
discharge their duties and responsibilities.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board 
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable rules 
and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up for that purpose.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The current articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide that subject to the manner of 
retirement by rotation of Directors as from time to time prescribed by the Listing Rules, at each annual general 
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and that every Director 
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three years subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election in accordance with the Articles. Each Independent non-executive Director is required to inform 
the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may affect his independence. The Company has 
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers these independent non-executive Directors 
to be independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT FOR 
DIRECTORS
Newly appointed Directors will be arranged a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction which includes the 
provision of key guidelines, documents and publications relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing 
obligations; a briefing on the Company’s structure, businesses, risk management and other governance practices 
and meetings with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors familiarize themselves with 
the management, business and governance policies and practices of the Company, and ensure that they have a 
proper understanding of the operations and businesses of the Company.

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company recommends the Directors attend 
relevant seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate in continuous 
professional development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals, to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. All the Directors also 
understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to participating in any 
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

According to the training record maintained by the Company, during the year ended 31 December 2023, all the 
Directors had participated in continuous professional development in the following manner:

Name of Directors Type of training

Executive Director:
Mr. Ng Kin Siu (i, ii)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang (i, ii)
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony (i, ii) (Note 1)
Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick (i, ii)
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin (i, ii)

i. reading journals and newspaper updates on corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibility.

ii. attending training/seminars/conferences arranged by the professional firms/organisations.

Note 1: Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony retired as independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee 
and the Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the 
Listing Rules, in accordance with provisions set out in the CG Code, which are available on the websites of the 
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk 
Sang, Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick and Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Lau 
Kwok Fai Patrick, who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters.
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The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for the following:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external 
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any 
questions regarding its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and to monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of 
the audit process in accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee should discuss with the 
external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences 
and ensure coordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

(c) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s annual report, interim financial reports and quarterly reports, if 
any, before submission to the Board, and to focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.

(d) to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems, 
including:

(i) reviewing the Company’s financial controls, accounting policies and the risk management and internal 
control systems;

(ii) discussing the risk management and internal control systems with management to ensure that 
management has performed its duty to maintain effective systems, including the adequacy of 
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s 
accounting and financial reporting function;

(iii) where an internal audit function exists, ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately 
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and monitoring its 
effectiveness;

(iv) reviewing the external auditors’ management letter and management’s response; and

(v) ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditors’ 
management letter.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held two meetings to, among others, consider 
and approve the following:

(a) to review the Group’s consolidated financial results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the six 
months ended 30 June 2023 before submission to the Board, with a focus on compliance with accounting 
standards, the Listing Rules and other requirements in relation to financial reporting of the Audit 
Committee;

(b) to discuss the effectiveness of the internal control system throughout the Group, including financial, 
operational and compliance controls, and risk management;

(c) to review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and other financial reporting 
matters; and

(d) to  review and recommend the  appointment of  the  auditors and  approve the  remuneration and terms  
of engagement.

The individual attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of meetings 
attended/number of 

meetings which required 
attendance

Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang 2/2
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony 1/2 (Note 1)
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin 2/2

Note 1: Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony retired as independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2023.

The Group’s audited annual results in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by 
existing members of the Audit Committee.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of 
the external auditors during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee currently consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Ng Kin Siu, and two 
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang and Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin, with Mr. Ng 
Kin Siu as the chairman. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of 
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

(a) to establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior 
management whilst ensuring no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own 
remuneration;

(c) to determine the remuneration of Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension 
right, compensation payment (including compensation for loss of office or appointment etc.). The chairman 
and/or the managing Director shall be consulted respectively about their proposals relating to the 
remuneration of the managing Director and/or senior management, as the case may be;

(d) to review and to approve the compensation arrangements in connection with any loss or termination 
of office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for misconduct to executive Directors and senior 
management which shall be consistent with contractual terms and fair and not excessive;

(e) to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance, which should reflect the Company’s 
business objectives and targets; and

(f) to consider the annual performance bonus for executive Directors, senior management, and the general 
staff, having regard to the achievements against the performance criteria by reference to corporate goals 
and objectives resolved by the Board, and make recommendations to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to, among others, 
consider and approve the following:

(a) to review the remuneration of Directors and senior management; and

(b) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of individual Executive Directors and senior 
management.
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The individual attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of meetings 
attended/number of 

meetings which required 
attendance

Mr. Ng Kin Siu (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang 1/1
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony 1/1 (Note 1)
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin 1/1

Note 1: Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony retired as independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2023.

The Remuneration Committee recommended that the remuneration for Board members remain unchanged and 
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors.

The emolument payable to Directors depends on their respective contractual terms under the service contracts 
and the appointment letters, and the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee.

Details of the Directors’ emolument are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the annual remuneration of members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 
December 2023 are as follows:

Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference which are in 
compliance with the code provision B.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are 
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board annually; identify individuals suitably qualified to 
become Board members; assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and make 
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Ng Kin Siu, and three independent 
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick and Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin.
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When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-
appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a variety of 
factors including without limitation to the following and assessing their suitability:

— Reputation for integrity;

— Board diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

— Merits and contribution that the proposed candidate will bring to the Board;

— In the case of the appointment of independent non-executive Directors, compliance with the independence 
requirement as prescribed under the Listing Rules; and

— Ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the Company’s business.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to, among others, 
consider and approve the following:

(a) to review the Board Diversity Policy; and

(b) to review the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The individual attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of meetings 
attended/number of 

meetings which required 
attendance

Mr. Ng Kin Siu (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick 1/1
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang 1/1
Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony 1/1  (Note 1)
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin 1/1

Note 1: Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony retired as independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2023.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Nomination Committee on the appointment of a different 
gender Director of the Board Diversity Policy during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group that 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Directors aim to present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects with timely publication of the financial 
statements of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements from pages 77 to 78 of this report, the Board has assessed the validity of the going concern 
assumption.

The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on those 
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders of the 
Company. The statements by the external auditor, CWK CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibility on 
the financial statements of the Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report on page 60 of this annual 
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s internal 
control system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system 
of the Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn minimises the risks to which the 
Group is exposed. The system can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatement or 
losses.

The Board has through the Audit Committee conducted a review of the implemented system and procedures, 
covering financial, operational and legal compliance controls and risk management system for the year ended 
31 December 2023. The Board keeps monitoring the risk management system on an ongoing basis, ensuring 
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system is conducted at least annually. The 
Directors consider that the Group has implemented appropriate procedures safeguarding the Group’s assets 
against unauthorised use or misappropriation, the maintenance of proper accounting records, execution with 
appropriate authority and compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-term development of the Group’s 
business. Management is responsible for establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating the soundness 
and effectiveness of the internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. The management 
has formulated the risk management and control framework. All employees are committed to implementing the 
risk management framework into daily operation.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is currently of the view that there is no immediate 
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the 
Group’s business. It was decided that the Board would be directly responsible for the internal control of the 
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control systems of our Group covering all material controls, including financial, 
operational and compliance as well as risk management. The Board considers that our Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
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OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of the Group are to identify and manage 
the risk of the Group in accordance with acceptable safety levels and to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives. 
The Group has adopted a three line risk management approach to identify, analyse, evaluate, mitigate and 
handle risks. At the first line of defence, department staff/frontline employees who must understand their roles 
and responsibilities are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with transactions. 
The second line of defence is the Group’s management that provides independent oversight of the risk 
management activities of the first line of defence. It ensures that risks are within the Group’s risk capacity and 
that the control of the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, the Audit Committee with 
the advice and opinions from an external professional party (such as the external auditor) and the internal audit 
function, would conduct a review of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems on an annual 
basis and ensure that the first and second lines of defence are performed effectively. The Board has conducted 
a review, and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy, of the risk management and internal control 
systems for the year ended 31 December 2023.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION
For the purposes of handling and disseminating inside information in accordance with the Listing Rules and 
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company has in place a policy 
on handling and dissemination of inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures and internal 
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place 
any person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market to price the listed securities of the 
Company with the latest available information. This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to 
ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. 
It also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside 
information.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The amount of fees charged by the external auditor generally depends on the scope and volume of the external 
auditor’s work performed.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the Company 
in respect of the statutory audit services and non-audit services for the Group is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Audit services 725 891
Others — 38   

725 929   
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yu Tsz Ngo (“Mr. Yu”) is the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Yu has taken no less than 15 hours of 
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 2023. The biographical details of Mr. Yu are set 
out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate resolutions can be proposed 
at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of individual directors, for the 
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at a shareholders’ meeting will be voted by 
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the Company after the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING
The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) are subject 
to the Articles (as amended from time to time), and the applicable legislations and regulation, in particular the 
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(a) any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of 
the paid up capital of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right to vote at general 
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the 
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), to require an EGM to be called by the 
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;

(b) Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM must deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) 
signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned to the head office and principal place of business of the 
Company in Hong Kong at Rooms 602–603, 6/F, The Sun’s Group Centre, 200 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,  
Hong Kong or the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company, Tricor Investor 
Services Limited at 17/F, East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board 
and/or the Company Secretary;

(c) the Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their 
shareholding(s), the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed to be 
transacted at the EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned together with a deposit 
of a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the 
resolution and circulating the statements submitted by the shareholders concerned in accordance with the 
statutory requirements to all the registered shareholders;

(d) the Requisition will be verified with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the 
Company and upon their confirmation that the Requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene 
an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under the Articles to all the 
registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in order or the 
Shareholders concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the 
said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the 
Board will not call for an EGM;
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(e) if within 21 days of the deposit of the verified Requisition and sufficient money to meet the Company’s 
expenses for the said purposes, the Board fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible 
Shareholder(s) himself/herself/ themselves may do so, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Eligible 
Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such EGM shall be reimbursed 
to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at the general meetings under the 
Companies Act (2021 Revision) of the of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles, shareholders who 
wish to move a resolution may by means of Requisition request to convene an EGM following the procedures set 
out above.

PROCEDURES FOR RAISING ENQUIRIES
Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings, share transfer, registration and payment 
of dividend to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar (details of which are set out in the section headed 
“Corporate Information” of this annual report).

Should there be any enquiries and concerns from shareholders, they may send in written enquiries addressed to 
the head office and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Rooms 602–603, 6th Floor, The 
Sun’s Group Centre, 200 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board and/or the 
Company Secretary.

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their detailed contact information for the 
prompt response from the Company if it deems appropriate.

INVESTORS RELATIONS
The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its shareholders and 
investors. These include answering questions through the annual general meeting, the publication of annual and 
interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars, the Company’s website and meetings with investors and 
shareholders.

News updates of the Group’s business development and operation are also available on the Company’s website 
at www.fdbhk.com. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there had been no significant change in the 
Company’s constitutional documents.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD
This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report prepared by FDB Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”), highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as 
described in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) adhere to environmental, social and governance 
values and are committed to creating sustainable values while conducting the business. This ESG report aims 
to provide an annual update on our sustainability performance in compliance with regulations, policies and 
guidelines over the past year on various sustainable development issues.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall environmental and social performances in its principal business 
operations of the construction services.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
The Group values input and feedback from its stakeholders as the Group aims to create long-term value for 
them. To begin the value creation process, the Group identifies different stakeholders, such as employees, 
customers, investors, suppliers and contractors, and the community. They have been involved in various 
communication channels, including the Company’s website, annual general meetings, annual reports and interim 
reports, staff meetings, customers and suppliers meetings to share their views regarding the Group’s operations 
and behavior.

As a result, these communication channels not only can help the Group search for opportunities for its future 
business direction, but also fulfill its responsibilities and commitment to the community. By gauging the mutual 
opinion of the stakeholders, the Group can receive important feedback and input for the materiality assessment.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
A materiality assessment was conducted by evaluating ESG related topics internally and we have selected our 
material ESG topics in view of our stakeholders’ opinions, industry report, market condition and ESG related 
risks. To perform the internal materiality assessment, our management and the board of the Group assessed the 
relationship between the degree of impact and degree of control for ESG related topics. The Group then further 
selected material ESG related topics based on continuous discussions with the stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 202326



The Group has considered the importance of ESG related topics in arriving at our material ESG related topics. The 
result of the materiality assessment is listed below:

Environmental Social

Air and greenhouse gas emission Employment and Training
Resources consumption Employee welfare
Waste Management Occupational health and safety

Anti-corruption
Labor laws and standard
Supply chain management

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
The Company welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and performance. Please give your 
suggestions or share your views with us via telephone (+852 3188 5595) or by email info@fdbhk.com.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE POLICY
The Board of the Group understands that it has a responsibility to manage ESG-related risks through the Group’s 
ESG policies and guidelines. The Board continues to develop, formulate, monitor and assess the Group’s ESG 
policies, leading relevant staff to participate in ESG initiatives in order to ensure ESG objectives can be achieved. 
With a clear direction and culture for the continuous development of ESG, the Group strives to implement the 
ESG policies into different aspects of the business practices, integrate initiatives into strategic plans, deliver ESG 
sustainability initiatives, contribute to community events and connect the stakeholders.

At FDB Holdings Limited, ESG is viewed as an essential principle that creates sustainable value for all our 
stakeholders. By embracing opportunities and managing risks derived from environmental, social, and 
economic developments, the Group’s ESG policies can be enhanced and developed for the long-term value for 
all stakeholders. To further enhance value for the stakeholders, ESG data will be analyzed annually with key 
performance indicators. The Board and top management may revise and update certain ESG related policies 
based on the ESG result. With the improvement of the ESG related policies, the Group can better align with its 
goals, objectives and stakeholders’ expectations in the long-run.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
A. Environmental

As a construction specialist, we are aware of how our business activities would affect the environment. 
On the other hand, we understand how to minimise our impact on the environment with our construction 
knowledge and skills. We believe that environmental protection would bring significant impact to the 
environment. As such the Group is committed to continually improving its environmental performance by 
implementing the following initiatives on environmental protection for the well-being of communities:

• To use ultra-low sulphur diesel for plants and generators;

• To adopt non-road mobile machinery approved with Environmental Protection Department’s labels;

• To use air compressors and hand-held percussive breakers with noise emission labels;

• To utilize trip-ticket systems to record disposal of construction waste to disposal facilities; and

• To prohibit open burning in all sites.

Our construction works are subject to certain environmental requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong 
Kong. Certain laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group are as follows:

• Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

• Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

• Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

• Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

• Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Cap. 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

• Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group exercised stringent controls to ensure the 
construction sites and engaged parties have fully complied with the relevant environmental laws and 
regulations. As a result, the Group did not identify any material non-compliance related to emission that 
resulted in prosecution, conviction or penalty being brought against us in environment aspects.
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A1 Emissions
Environmental protection has always been one of the fundamental values of the Group. In the course 
of achieving the Group’s business objectives and creating sustainable value for its stakeholders, the 
Group wants to achieve a balance between its operation needs and the protection of the environment 
by using efficient resources and minimizing pollutants in business operation.

Air Emission
The Group recognizes its responsibility to contribute towards environmentally sustainable 
development through complying with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance. Air Pollution Control 
Ordinance gives the Group a principal guideline in Hong Kong in terms of air quality, required license 
control area, responsible entity and consequence. Air Pollution Control Ordinance states that the 
owner of any premises used for construction shall use the best practicable means for preventing 
the emission of noxious or offensive emission from the premises, whether directly or indirectly. 
Following the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the Group is able to identify, evaluate and minimize 
the environment impact of construction activities. The Group also assigns employees to carry out 
inspection on the construction sites as air pollutants may be difficult to observe and require stringent 
monitoring.

Furthermore, the Group promotes environmentally friendly practices with employees by implementing 
the following initiatives:

• Complying with environmental legislation and other applicable regulations;

• Using environmentally clean energy efficiently; and

• Reducing waste by reusing the materials.

The KPIs for air emission and air pollutants emission for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out 
below.

Air Emission Data

Air Pollutants Unit 2023 2022

Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) Kg – –
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) Kg – –
Particular Matter (PM) Kg – –    
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions
The Group reduces its greenhouse gas emission by lowering its energy consumption. During the 
Reporting Period, our greenhouse gas emission mainly came from purchased electricity, consumption 
and disposal of paper. The details of our greenhouse gas emission during the Reporting Period are as 
follows:

Air Pollutants Unit Construction and Consultancy
2023 2022

Scope 1
Direct Emission1 tCO

2
e 5 64

Scope 2
Indirect Emission2 tCO

2
e 159 238

Scope 3
Other Indirect Emission3 tCO

2
e 18 32    

Total GHG Emission tCO
2
e 182 334    

Note: Scope 1 — Direct emissions from operations that are owned or controlled by the Group;

 Scope 2 — “Energy indirect” emissions resulting from the generation of purchased or acquired electricity, heating, cooling 

and steam consumed within the Group; and

 Scope 3 — All other indirect emissions that occur outside the Group, including both upstream and downstream emissions.

Fuel consumption is directly related to carbon emissions and we continuously monitor the use of 
vehicles.

There were 182 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO
2
e”) greenhouse gases (mainly comprising 

of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) emitted from the Group’s business operation in the 
Reporting Period. The annual emission has decreased around 45.5% when compared to the last 
Reporting Period.

Waste Management
The Group has complied with the Waste Disposal Ordinance, which is a principal legislation controlling 
the production, storage, collection, treatment, reprocessing, recycling and disposal of wastes in Hong 
Kong. The Waste Disposal Ordinance provides a clear message on illegal behavior of the depositing of 
waste, responsible entity, restriction of waste disposal, license requirement and penalties. The Group 
is aware of the impact of inadequate waste handling which could cause inconvenience, hygiene 
problems and danger to the community. As such, the Group is committed to dispose waste from 
construction sites legally and properly.
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In order to reduce the negative impact of waste, the Group has formulated several waste 
management measures and recognized the importance of waste reduction. For non-hazardous waste, 
the Group has implemented its waste management plans to ensure that all waste generated during 
the construction phase is managed on site, transported and disposed of in environment-friendly 
ways. Besides, the Group has adopted a trip-ticket system for the disposal of construction waste to 
disposal facilities. It facilitates the recording of waste as it arrives at the landfill or public filling area in 
order to minimize the potential of cross- contamination with other waste. To facilitate proper disposal 
management, waste sorting is carried out on site to separate re-usable and recyclable materials, 
hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste.

In the offices, the Group encourages the staff to consider environmentally friendly practices in paper 
waste management:

• Adopt double-sided printing;

• Recycling bins placed next to the copiers to facilitate collection and reuse of paper; and

• Using electronics documents and files for storage.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not generate any hazardous waste.

Waste Disposal Unit 2023 2022

Hazardous Wastes Produced
N/A tonnes – –

Non-hazardous Wastes Produced

Construction Sites:
Inert Material
Construction and Demolition (C&D) Waste
C&D Waste (Fill Bank) tonnes 511 1,241
C&D Waste (Sorting Facility) tonnes 152 1,466
C&D Waste (Landfill) tonnes 202 1,294

Office:
Paper tonnes 4 5    

Total tonnes 869 4,006    

The Group believes that building a more sustainable environment is a main business direction. To 
remind staff to “save paper, energy and other resources”, the Group sent out this message through 
notices and email. Having implemented the initiatives and actions, the Group continues to strive 
the best environment for the communities. As a result, during the Reporting Period, only the non-
hazardous waste of C&D Waste (Landfill) has slightly increased while the non-hazardous waste of C&D 
Waste (Fill Bank) and C&D Waste (Sorting Facility) have decreased.
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A2 Use of Resources
With the challenges of environmental protection, the Group strives to minimize the energy consumed 
in its operations by identifying and imposing measures to increase energy and resource efficiency.

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed to electricity and water consumed in its 
daily operation. With the aim to better manage its use of resources, the Group makes great effort to 
improve and develop the way to build in a resource efficient manner. Before the start of each project, 
the use of resources is projected within a specified range. During each project, regular assessments 
of the use of resources are performed so the use of resources is controlled within the limit.

The Group motives the following resources saving initiatives to offset the negative impact on climate 
change and environment:

• Encouraging employees to switch off the lights and electronic appliances before they leave the 
office;

• Encouraging employees to set the temperature of the offices’ air conditioners to 25.5 Degree 
Celsius;

• Encouraging employees to reuse envelopes and files;

• Encouraging employees to use double-sided printing and reuse paper whenever possible;

• Place water saving signs next to faucets;

• Encouraging and arranging the surplus materials on the construction sites to be re-used in other 
construction sites instead of dumping; and

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no water fetching problem in our daily business.

Use of packaging materials is not relevant to the Group’s businesses. Below sets out the KPIs for 
electricity and water consumption.

Types of Resources Unit 2023 2022

Electricity
Total Electricity Consumption (kWh) 158,885 328,396
Electricity Intensity (kWh/Staff/Day) 4.83 7.89
Water
Total Water Consumption (m3) 1,603 7,343
Water Consumption Intensity (m3/Staff/Day) 0.03 0.23    

The consumption of electricity and water increased significantly in the Reporting Period due to the 
peak operation period of three construction sites occurred.
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We must identify and record site environmental aspects in operation, storage, waste management, 
distribution and disposal, etc. in the Group’s register of environmental aspects for monitoring and 
mitigating our environmental impact.

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
The business activities of the Group have no significant impact on environment and natural resources. 
Being one of the stakeholders of the environment, the Group still takes environmental issues into due 
consideration when marking business decisions and actively minimizing the impact of our business 
operations on the environment. The Group has developed the Environmental Management System 
which has been certified to comply with ISO 14001. All employees are reminded to adhere to the use 
of natural resources in environmentally friendly ways.

A4 Climate Change
During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been significantly impacted by climate-related issues 
while the Group understands climate-related issues are harmful to the environment and have been 
rigorously regulated by the United Nations’ Framework Convention. As a result, the Group minimized 
its greenhouse gases to mitigate climate change. Greenhouse gas emissions from the Group were 
primarily due to the consumption of electricity and water in its business operations. The Group 
continues to reduce its greenhouse gas emission by lowering its energy consumption and regularly 
reviews the possible threats from climate-related impact on the Group’s business.

B. Social
We consider our staff as valuable wealth of the Group and the foundation for the development of the 
Group. We also believe in giving back to the communities in which we operate. The following is our policy 
on social aspects:

• To provide a supportive and peaceful working environment by upholding employment practices that 
treat our staff fairly and equally;

• To maintain the rights and interests of our staff through strict compliance with the applicable laws and 
regulations;

• To offer our staff opportunities for training and development;

• To ensure a healthy and safe workplace and promote efficient interaction within the Group;

• To safeguard a high standard of integrity, transparency and accountability in our operations; and

• To support local initiatives that create sustainable and lasting benefits to the community through 
corporate philanthropy and mobilizing our staff to participate in volunteer work.
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B1 Employment and Labor Practices
The Group puts significant emphasis on people who are regarded as the Group’s most valuable 
assets and the key element of its business development. Hence, the Group has established clear 
policies to attract and retain talents through treating the staff fairly and equally, aiming at reinforcing 
satisfaction, commitment and motivation of human capital. The Group recognizes the role of human 
resources policies in enhancing the quality and stability of our workforce. Human resources policies 
and procedures established in the Group are applicable to all staff.

To ensure a fair reward system, the Group offers competitive remuneration and welfare packages 
for the right talents and their salary and opportunities are adjusted on the basis of performance, 
qualification, relevant working experience, attitude, job knowledge, job responsibilities, punctuality, 
position and the Group’s operation. In the recruitment process, the Group holds the beliefs in equality 
and anti-discrimination to deliver equal opportunity for the candidates.

The Group firmly upholds the principle of treating each employee fairly and consistently in all 
matters and enforces its employment policies in accordance with the regulations of the Employment 
Ordinance in Hong Kong. The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulation for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

Employee Benefits and Welfare
Throughout the Group’ operation, the Group strives to provide a fair and safe working environment 
in which the staff can build up their career and foster their personal development. In accordance 
with a reward and performance approach, high performers are rewarded with a higher bonus and 
salary increment. Meanwhile, their performance reviews are conducted regularly by department 
heads. Further discussion with the top management and human resources department regarding the 
performance may be required.

The Group sets appropriate and regular working hours and rest breaks for all staff members in their 
respective employment environment. The standard working hours are around 8 to 10 hours per 
day and 40 to 50 hours per week. The Group also provides paid annual leave and public holidays 
in addition to statutory holidays set by the government. With regard to the legal requirements for 
retirement funds, the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) scheme is adopted for all the employees in 
Hong Kong. The Group is obligated to contribute 5% of all salary levels as the retirement fund of the 
employees in the MPF scheme.

Promotion and Dismissal
In accordance with the Group’s policies and procedures, setting internal promotions can boost the 
motivation of the employees. Whenever possible, talented employees will first be considered before 
posting job vacancies in public. Employees are also welcome to discuss their career development 
with their respective department head or the Human Resources Department.

An employee who wishes to resign should tender notice in writing to the Group as stipulated in his or 
her letter of appointment. Under the resignation process, the Group will carefully settle the remaining 
salary and holidays to make sure a fair treatment is enacted. The Group will always respect an 
employee’s resignation decision.
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Total Employees and Turnover
As of 31 December 2023, the Group employed 69 staff in total. As an illustration, the workforce 
statistic by employment category, gender, are illustrated in pie graphs while the workforce statistic by 
age group and geographical region are disclosed as follows:

Employment

Total Employees Unit 2023 2022

Gender Male % 78 74
Female % 22 26

Employment Category Management % 12 15
Technical/Supervisor % 12 2
General Staff % 76 83

Age Distribution 18 or below % – –
19 to 40 % 32 31
41 to 60 % 52 53
Over 60 % 16 16

Geographical Distribution Hong Kong % 100 100     

More than half of the Group’s workforce are male and over 78% of its staff is general staff. Over 52% 
of the Group’s staff is aged between 41 to 60. All employees are remunerated fairly, regardless of 
gender, age or nationality.

The overall turnover rate is 14%. The annual turnover rates categorized by different gender, age group 
and geographical region in the Reporting Period are as follows:

Employees Turnover Rate Unit 2023 2022

Gender Male % 39 4
Female % 28 –

Age Distribution 18 or below % – –
19 to 40 % 37 100
41 to 60 % 34 –
Over 60 % 28 –

Geographical Distribution Hong Kong % 14 100     
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B2 Health and Safety
Due to the business nature of the Group, the Group places the highest priority on securing 
occupational safety and health of all the employees by maintaining a healthy, safe and quality 
workplace. To achieve a healthy and safe workplace, the Group strives to promote employees’ 
awareness of occupational threats. By understanding the potential hazards in workplace, employees 
can take preventive measures to ensure a healthy and safe environment.

The Group have taken the following precautionary measures at our offices to minimize the risk of 
approaching and spreading the coronavirus:

• Installing air purifiers to improve air quality and ventilation;

• Encouraging employees to take the vaccine;

• Wearing a surgical mask in the office;

• Social distancing is encouraged;

• More frequent cleaning and disinfecting;

• Measuring body temperature for employees; and

• Minimizing face to face meetings.

Safety Audit
Safety audits were conducted periodically in the office (corporate level) and on site (project) according 
to the statutory requirements of the Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management) 
Regulation (Cap. 59AF of the Laws of Hong Kong), to check the efficiency, effectiveness and reliability 
of the safety management and to set up a plan for further improvement actions.
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ISO 45001
The Occupational Safety Management System was developed. The system not only complies with 
the statutory requirements, it has also been certified to comply with an international standard of ISO 
45001. This standard is implemented to all projects and is continuously undergoing improvement with 
latest international trends.

Summary of Health and Safety Performance Indicators

2023 2022 2021

Work-related fatalities (Case) – – –
Lost days due to work injury (Day) 505 162 898    

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not identify any material non-compliance 
cases relating to health and safety.

The Group has complied with relevant occupational safety and health legislation, and regulations 
including the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the 
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

B3 Development and Training
Talent Management
The Group believes that people development plays the most pivotal role in laying a solid ground 
for business growth. Meanwhile, employees can gain long-term growth and career development in 
the Group. By allocating sufficient resources to people development, employees are given different 
types of opportunities based on their position, required skills and working levels. Besides on-the-
job training, employees are encouraged to participate in internal and external training to strengthen 
their capacity, work skills, knowledge and professionalism with newly updated guidelines and latest 
information on market and industry development. To assess the effectiveness of the training program, 
the Group regularly reviews it and applies necessary modifications to the program to meet the 
Group’s development goal.

Job Orientation
To assimilate into our culture and get familiar with the new working environment, all new staff 
undergo an orientation which relates to the Group’s background, professional ethics, knowledge and 
skills for the appointed position, duties and operational procedures and safety etc.
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Summary of Development and Training Performance Indicators
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total and average training hours completed per 
employee by gender and employee category are as follows:

By Employee Category and Gender Total Training Hours Average Training Hours
Female Male Female Male

Management – 46 – 8
Technical/Supervisor – 88 – 11
General Staff 22 623 2 18     

By Employee Category and Gender

Trained employees as 
a percentage of total  
number of employees

Female Male
% %

Management – 25
Technical/Supervisor – 38
General Staff 27 32   

B4 Labor Standards
The Group strictly complies with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) 
and fully understands that employing child labor and forced labor is prohibited. The Group reviews the 
job applicant’s identity information during the recruitment process and the applicant is also required 
to provide document proof of academic qualifications and working experience for verification. The 
employment policies of the Group also protect the right of free choice of employment by any person 
and ensure that all employment relationships are established on a voluntary basis. Moreover, the 
human resources department ensures that sufficient rest days are available to employees. When 
child labor or forced labor is discovered, the Group would launch investigations and suspend all the 
job duties of the respective employees. Once the case of child labor or forced labor is verified, the 
employment contract would be terminated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not identify any non-compliance cases 
involving child labor and forced labor and complied with all relevant laws and regulations relating to 
employment and labor practices.
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B5 Supply Chain Management
To ensure the Group’s service quality, the Group’s policy in relation to subcontractors and suppliers 
is to select only those subcontractors and suppliers who have passed the Group’s quality control 
tests and have a satisfactory record of quality and on-time delivery. Our subcontractors and suppliers 
are required to follow Hong Kong and their local applicable laws and regulations in relation to 
occupational health and safety and environmental protection.

The Group aims to maintain partnerships with suppliers and work together in order to promote 
sustainable development of the industry. The Group performs the evaluation of subcontractors and 
suppliers on an annual basis to make sure the performance of the subcontractors and suppliers 
are up to standard. The assessment mainly includes but is not limited to professional qualification, 
services/products quality, financial status, operation in good integrity, social responsibility, etc.

Summary of Suppliers
As at 31 December 2023, the following table sets out breakdowns of the Group’s suppliers/
subcontractors by geographic region.

2023 2022

Number of Key Suppliers/Subcontractors 148 124

By Region
Hong Kong 147 124
Mexico 1 –   

B6 Product Responsibility
The Group recognizes the importance of the quality of the services provided by the Group. The Group 
has established relevant policies which cover service quality and safety in order to ensure relevant 
measures comply with the laws and regulations of Hong Kong.

The Group communicates and confirms the work plan with customers before the commencement of 
projects and actively monitors, processes and coordinates with the customers. For the year ended 31 
December 2023, the Group did not receive any material complaints or requests to terminate projects 
due to poor quality and safety. If a complaint should arise, the Company will immediately assess the 
complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the matter to identify the source of the issues. If 
the complaint is valid, the Group will immediately provide the relevant solution to solve the issues as 
soon as practicable.

The Group also recognizes the importance of intellectual property rights and exercises reasonable 
effort in protecting intellectual property. The management and relevant departments review the 
contracts entered into with customers and suppliers to ensure the intellectual property rights are 
properly accounted for. The Group also complies with the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the 
Laws of Hong Kong). All confidential data of customers can only be assessed by the staff who are 
responsible for the projects for relevant clients.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not identify any non-compliance cases relating 
to product responsibility.

The Group will keep a close eye on the updates of relevant regulations and codes and revise its 
policies and operations accordingly, so as to prevent any malpractice.

B7 Anti-corruption
The Group realizes the importance of the integrity of our employees and has established the Code of 
Conduct (“CoC”) for all employees. With reference to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 
201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), advice from the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC), 
industry practice and internal consideration, CoC is made for the purpose of providing employees 
with the guidance for allowable acceptance of gifts or entertainment, conflict of interest, handling 
of confidential information, and whistle-blowing procedure. In line with the CoC, the Group has also 
partnered with ICAC to organize talks on fighting corruption in the construction industry in particular, 
as refresher training for its staff.

Employees are also required to comply strictly with applicable laws relating to the above acts. The 
Group emphatically affirms its zero-tolerance attitude regarding corruption, fraud, and all other 
behaviors that seriously violate professionalism and work ethics. Upholdings a high standard of 
integrity, transparency and accountability in its operations, the Group has adopted and circulated 
clear internal guidelines for employees. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not 
receive any complaint or notification from governmental authorities regarding non-compliance of the 
Group or its employees with anti-corruption laws referred to above.

B8 Community Investment
The Group encourages staff to take part in community welfare and giving back to the society. 
Community welfare offers a great opportunity for the Group to interact with various stakeholders, 
leading to a better understanding of their needs and expectations. During the Reporting Period, 
the Group participated in the Public Estate Basketball Programme to support the youths to develop 
positive attitudes and engagement in community development. During the Reporting Period, the 
Company also take part on contributing to the workplace equality , we have devoted sufficient time 
resources by our senior management to promote the gender and race equality in the workplace 
environment.
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INDEX FOR ESG REPORTING GUIDE

Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect A1: Emissions   

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws 

and regu la t ions that  have a 
significant impact on the issuer 
relating to air and greenhouse 
gas emissions, discharges into 
water and land, and generation 
of hazardous and non- hazardous 
waste.

Air Emission
Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
Waste Management

   

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 
emissions data.

Emissions — Air Emission Data

   

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect 
(Scope 2) GHG emissions in total (in 
tonnes) and intensity.

Emissions — Greenhouse Gas Emissions

   

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and intensity.

Emissions — Waste Management (Not 
applicable)   

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and intensity.

Emissions — Waste Management

   

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set 
and steps taken to achieve them.

Emissions — Air Emission
Emissions — Greenhouse Gas  Emissions 
Emissions — Waste Management   

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and 
non- hazardous wastes are handled, 
reduction target(s) set and steps taken 
to achieve them.

Emissions — Waste Management
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Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect A2: Use of Resources   

General Disclosure P o l i c i e s  o n  t h e  e f f i c i e n t  u s e  o f 
resources, including energy, water and 
other raw materials.

Use of Resources

   

KPI A2.1 D i r e c t  a n d / o r  i n d i r e c t  e n e r g y 
consumption by type in tota l and 
intensity.

Use of Resources

   

KPI A2.2 W a t e r  c o n s u m p t i o n  i n  t o t a l  a n d 
intensity.

Use of Resources

   

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency 
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

Use of Resources

   

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any 
issue in sourcing water that is fit for 
purpose, water target(s) set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

Use of Resources

   

KPI A2.5 Total packaging mater ia l  used for 
finished products (in tonnes) and with 
reference to per unit produced.

Use of Resources

   

Aspect A3: The Environment 
and Natural Resources   

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’ s 
significant impact on the environment 
and natural resources.

The Environment and Natural Resources

   

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts 
of activities on the environment and 
natural resources and the actions taken 
to manage them.

The Environment and Natural Resources
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Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect A4: Climate Change   

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation 
of significant climate-related issues 
which have impacted, and those which 
may impact, the issuer.

Climate Change

   

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate- 
related issues which have impacted, 
and those which may impact, the issuer, 
and the actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change

   

Aspect B1: Employment   

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relating to 
c o m p e n s a t i o n  a n d d i s m i s s a l , 
r e c r u i t m e n t  a n d  p r o m o t i o n , 
w o r k i n g  h o u r s ,  r e s t  p e r i o d s , 
equal opportunity, diversity, anti- 
discrimination, and other benefits 
and welfare.

Employment and Labour Practise

   

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment 
type, age group and geographical 
region.

Total Employees and Turnover

   

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover by gender, age 
group and geographical region.

Total Employees and Turnover
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Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B2: Health and Safety   

General Disclosure Information on: 
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws 

a n d  r e g u l a t i o n s  t h a t  h a v e  a 
significant impact on the issuer 
relating to providing a safe working 
e n v i r o n m e n t  a n d  p r o t e c t i n g 
employees f rom occupat iona l 
hazards.

Health and Safety

   

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of  work-re lated 
fatalities occurred in each of the past 
three years including the reporting year.

S u m m a r y  o f  H e a l t h  a n d  S a f e t y 
Performance Indicators

   

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. S u m m a r y  o f  H e a l t h  a n d  S a f e t y 
Performance Indicators   

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 
safety measures adopted, and how they 
are implemented and monitored.

S u m m a r y  o f  H e a l t h  a n d  S a f e t y 
Performance Indicators

   

Aspect B3: Development and 
Training   

General Disclosure Pol ic ies on improv ing employees’ 
knowledge and skills for discharging 
duties at work. Description of training 
activities.

Development and Training

   

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained 
by gender and employee category 
(e .g .  sen ior  management ,  midd le 
management).

Summary of Development and Training 
Performance Indicators

   

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed 
per employee by gender and employee 
category.

Summary of Development and Training 
Performance Indicators
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Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B4: Labour Standards   

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws 

and regu la t ions that  have a 
significant impact on the issuer 
relating to preventing child and 
forced labour.

Labour Standards

   

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 
employment practices to avoid child 
and forced labour.

Labour Standards

   

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate 
such practices when discovered.

Labour Standards

   

Aspect B5: Supply Chain 
Management   

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and 
social risks of the supply chain.

Supply Chain Management

   

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical 
region.

Summary of Suppliers

   

KPI B5.2 Descr ip t ion  o f  p rac t i ces  re la t ing 
to engaging suppl iers ,  number of 
suppl iers where the pract ices are 
being implemented, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

   

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 
environmental and social risks along 
the supply chain, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

   

KPI B5.4 Descr ip t ion o f  p rac t i ces  used to 
promote environmentally preferable 
p r o d u c t s  a n d  s e r v i c e s  w h e n 
selecting suppliers, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management
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Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B6: Product 
Responsibility   

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws 

and regu la t ions that  have a 
significant impact on the issuer 
relating to health and safety, 
advertising, labelling and privacy 
matters relating to products and 
services provided and methods of 
redress.

Product Responsibility

   

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or 
shipped subject to recalls for safety and 
health reasons.

Product Responsibility

   

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related 
complaints received and how they are 
dealt with.

Product Responsibility

   

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to 
observing and protecting intellectual 
property rights.

Product Responsibility

   

KPI B6.4 Descr ip t ion  o f  qua l i t y  assurance 
process and recall procedures.

Product Responsibility

   

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection 
and privacy policies, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility
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Subject Areas, Aspect, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption   

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compl iance w i th  re levant 

laws and regulat ions that 
have a significant impact on 
the issuer relating to bribery, 
extortion, fraud and money 
laundering.

Anti-corruption

   

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases 
regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees 
during the reporting period and the 
outcomes of the cases.

Anti-corruption

   

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures 
and whistle-blowing procedures, 
and how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Anti-corruption

   

KPI B7.3 Descr ip t ion o f  ant i -cor rupt ion 
training provided to directors and 
staff.

Anti-corruption

   

Aspect B8: Community 
Investment   

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement 
to understand the needs of the 
communit ies where the issuer 
operates and to ensure its activities 
t a k e  i n t o  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  t h e 
communities’ interests.

Community Investment

   

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. 
education, environmental concerns, 
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

Community Investment
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. NG Kin Siu, (吳建韶), aged 57, is an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company 

and is responsible for the overall business development and strategic planning of the Group. He was appointed 
as an executive Director on 19 March 2015 and appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 14 December 2021. 
He is also a director of Win Lee, FDB Development Limited, Harvest Building Consultancy Limited and Marvo 
Architecture Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ng is the sole shareholder of Masterveyor 
Holdings Limited, who became the controlling shareholder of the Company since April 2021.

He graduated from The Robert Gordon University in the United Kingdom in June 1993 with a degree of Bachelor 
of Science in building surveying. He has been a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors since March 
1997, a member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors since December 1996 and was registered as a 
registered professional surveyor with the Surveyors Registration Board in July 1999. He has been an Authorized 
Person since December 2007 and a Registered Inspector in Hong Kong since 3 October 2012. He has also been 
the technical director for Win Lee Building’s registration of registered general building contractor and registered 
specialist contractor (demolition) since June 2009 and May 2009, respectively.

He has extensive experience in building surveying and is familiar with the Buildings Ordinance in Hong Kong. 
Prior to founding the Group, he worked in the Buildings Department from April 1997 to March 2008, with last 
position held being that of building surveyor.

Other than the experience in the building and construction industry, Mr. Ng is also experienced in real estate 
development, property project management and financial services sectors.

Mr. Ng was not a director in any listed companies for the last three preceding years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang (陳玉生) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 78, was appointed as an independent non-executive 

Director on 12 January 2018. He has more than 30 years of experience in the banking and finance industry, Mr. 
Chan has been an Independent non-executive director of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (stock code: 
374) since July 2000, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also a 
senior general manager of a local bank and an executive director of a joint Chinese foreign bank in Shenzhen, 
the PRC.
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Mr. LAU Kwok Fai Patrick (劉國煇) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive 

Director on 12 January 2018. He has more than 20 years of experience in the fields of accounting, auditing, 
financial advisory and corporate governance. From September 1996 to November 1997, Mr. Lau served as an 
auditor in Baker Tilly Hong Kong (formerly known as Glass Radcliffe Chan & Wee Certified Public Accountants), 
mainly responsible for statutory audit. From December 1997 to April 1999, Mr. Lau served as an associate in 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd, mainly responsible for statutory audit, internal control review and enterprise 
listing audit. From October 1999 to June 2011, Mr. Lau worked at KPMG at which his last position was manager, 
and was mainly responsible for financial due diligence, corporate reorganisation and liquidation, distressed 
assets acquisitions analysis, financial modelling and various financial advisory services. From July 2011 to June 
2016, Mr. Lau served in various positions, including deputy general manager, financial controller and company 
secretary, in China City Railway Transportation Technology Holdings Company Limited (now known as BII Railway 
Transportation Technology Holdings Company Limited), the shares of which were listed on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange from May 2012 to December 2013 (stock code: 8240) and were transferred to the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange in December 2013 (stock code: 1522). From July 2016 to October 2019, Mr. Lau served in various 
positions, including chief financial officer and company secretary, in International Alliance Financial Leasing Co., 
Ltd., the shares of which were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in March 2019 (stock code: 1563).

Mr. Lau obtained an honours diploma in Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong 
Kong Shue Yan University) in July 1996. He later obtained a Master of Science in Corporate Governance and 
Directorship (Distinction) from Hong Kong Baptist University in November 2014. He also obtained the HKICPA 
Diploma in Insolvency awarded by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (formerly known as 
Hong Kong Society of Accountants) degree in June 2004. Mr. Lau has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
since July 2003 and December 2007, respectively. He has also been a member of Beta Gamma Sigma Hong Kong 
Baptist University Chapter since April 2014.

Mr. Lau has been an independent non-executive director of (i) Jinhai Medical Technology Limited (formerly known 
as Jinhai International Group Holdings Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 2225), for the period from September 2017 to July 2020; (ii) Ximei Resources Holding 
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9936), since 
February 2020; (iii) Sundy Services Group Co. Ltd, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 9608), since December 2020; and (iv) Zhongtian Construction (Hunan) Group Limited, the 
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2433), since March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau was not a director in any other listed companies for the last three preceding 
years.
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Mr. WONG Chun Wah Kelvin (黃鎮華) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 50, is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and 

is also an experience practitioner in housing management with over 20 years of experience. Mr. Wong is 
currently a consultant with Messrs. Au-Yeung, Cheng, Ho & Tin. Prior to his joining of the legal field, Mr. Wong 
was employed by various property management companies since 1993 and was also a Registered Professional 
Housing Manager under the Housing Managers Registration Ordinance (Cap. 550, Laws of Hong Kong), a Member 
of The Hong Kong Institute of Housing and a Full Member of Institute of Shopping Centre Management.

Mr. Wong is currently a Professional Member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, a Chartered 
Member of the Chartered Institute of Housing, an Ordinary Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate 
Administrators and a Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management. He was admitted as a solicitor 
of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2018.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Housing Management and a Master of Laws from The University of Hong Kong 
and a Juris Doctor and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the City University of Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong was not a director in any other listed companies for the last three preceding 
years.

Disclosure required under Rule 13.51 of the Listing Rules
Save as disclosed above, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all 
reasonable enquiries, there are no other matters with respect to the appointment of the Directors that need to 
be brought to the attention of the Shareholders and there is no information in relation to the Directors that is 
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51 of the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. YU Tsz Ngo (余子敖) (“Mr. Yu”), aged 38, was the company secretary during the period between 15 

May 2015 and 18 May 2020 and was re-appointed as a company secretary and authorised representative of 
the Company on 14 December 2021. Mr. Yu has over 14 years of experience in the related fields of finance, 
auditing, accounting, corporate governance practices, and company secretarial matters and possesses the 
requisition qualification and experience as required under the Listing Rules. Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s 
degree of commerce (accounting and finance) and a master’s degree of applied finance from Monash University 
of Australia in December 2005 and December 2006, respectively. He is a member of the Certified Public 
Accountants Australia and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He 
is currently the executive director of Marksman Corporate Services Limited, a firm principally engaged in the 
provision of corporate secretarial services and a partner of IPA CPA Limited. Mr. Yu has also been the company 
secretary of Hing Ming Holdings Limited (stock code: 8425) and China Health Group Inc. (stock code: 8225), 
the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and is currently the company secretary of Welife 
Technology Limited (stock code: 1703) and WEILi Holdings Limited (stock code: 2372), the shares of which are 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yu was not a director in any listed companies in the last three preceding years.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2023.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 19 March 2015.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange with effect from 30 September 2015 and 
have been transferred to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 10 July 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries 
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Detailed business review is set out in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” (“MD&A”) in this 
annual report from pages 4 to 10. Future development of the company’s business is set out in the section of 
“Chairman’s Statement” and “MD&A” in this annual report on page 3 and page 4 respectively. As far as the 
Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Key Risks and Uncertainties
The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and uses its best effort to ensure they 
are sufficient to mitigate the risks present in its operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively as 
possible.

An analysis of the Group’s financial risk management (including market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk) 
objectives and policies are provided in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection
The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment through its business activities. 
The Group established measures and created an environmental framework to minimise and monitor the 
environmental impact attributable to its operations. The Group implemented green office practices such as 
redeploying office furniture as far as practicable, encouraging use of recycled paper for printing and copying and 
reducing energy consumption by switching off idling lightings and electrical appliances. Moreover, the Group 
also established air pollution, noise and waste disposal control such as watering when necessary for any dusty 
materials before loading and unloading on site; carrying out work that creates loud noise during day-time or non 
noise sensitive hours only; and providing labelled bins to allow segregation of recyclable materials from other 
waste for transportation to landfills or public fill whenever possible.
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Workplace Quality
The Group believes that employees are valuable assets and regards human resources as its corporate wealth. 
The Group intends to use its best effort to attract and retain appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the 
Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by 
providing an attractive remuneration package. The Group determines the salary of its employees mainly based 
on each employee’s qualifications, relevant experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts an annual 
review on salary raises, bonuses and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The Group has 
employee handbooks outlining the terms and conditions of employment, expectations for employees’ conduct, 
employees’ rights and benefits.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 65 to 66 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends in compliance with code provision F.1.1 of the 
CG Code, which establishes an appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend payment 
of the Company. The Company will declare and/or recommend a payment of dividends to the Shareholders 
after considering the Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its 
actual and expected financial results, cash flow, general business conditions and strategies, current and future 
operations, statutory, contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion on 
whether to pay a dividend, subject to the Shareholders’ approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to 
recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, 
capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and 
affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to the 
interim and/or final dividends. The Company shall review and reassess the dividend policy and its effectiveness 
on a regular basis or as required.

The Board does not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 
nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The annual general meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 30 May 2024. In order to determine entitlements to 
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 
Monday, 27 May 2024 to Thursday, 30 May 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares 
of the Company will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 
for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services 
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt  Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 24 
May 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on page 142 of this annual 
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 
14 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 202352



SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The share option scheme (the “Scheme”) is a share incentive scheme in compliance with Chapter 17 of the 
Listing Rules and is established to recognise and acknowledge the contribution of the Directors and other 
employees who have made valuable contributions to the Group. The Scheme of the Company was adopted on 
16 September 2015 (the “Adoption”). There was no share option granted or agreed to be granted under the 
Scheme from the date of the Adoption to 31 December 2023.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Scheme but it does not form part of, nor was it intended 
to be part of the Scheme nor should it be taken as affecting the interpretation of the rules of the Scheme:

(a) Purpose
The Scheme is a share incentive scheme in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is 
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible Participants (as defined in 
paragraph (b) below) had or may have made to our Group. The Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants 
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with a view to achieving the following objectives: 
(i) to motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; 
and (ii) to attract and to retain or otherwise to maintain an on-going business relationship with the Eligible 
Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

(b) The participants of the Scheme
The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the following persons (collectively the “Eligible 
Participants”) to subscribe for such number of new shares as the Board may determine at an exercise 
price determined in accordance with paragraph (e) below:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(ii) any directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries; and

(iii) any advisers, consultants and such other persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will contribute 
or have contributed to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for 
the grant.

(c) Maximum number of shares
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme and under 
any other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of 
shares in issue, being 133,200,000 shares, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval.
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(d) Maximum number of shares to any one individual
The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted 
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including both exercised and 
outstanding options) to each Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not 
exceed 1% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of grant.

(e) Price of shares
The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted under the Scheme shall be 
such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price must be at least the 
higher of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the 
date  of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing 
in securities;

(ii) the average of the official closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share.

(f) Time of exercise of options and duration of the Scheme
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time after the date upon 
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that 
date. The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute 
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted. No option 
may be granted more than 10 years after the date of approval of the Scheme. Subject to earlier termination 
by the Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 
10 years from the date of its adoption.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any securities of the Company 
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any distributable reserve available for distribution to its 
shareholders, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and 
revised) of the Cayman Islands.
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MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s major customers is 
set out below:

Revenue
— The largest customer 32.0%
— The total of the five largest customers 81.5%

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of cost of services attributable to the Group’s major 
suppliers is set out below:

Cost of services
— The largest supplier 11.8%
— The total of the five largest suppliers 34.1%

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or shareholders (who to the 
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major 
customers and major suppliers noted above.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Director:
Mr. Ng Kin Siu (Chairman and chief executive officer)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang
Mr. Lau Kwok Fai Patrick
Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any time to 
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing 
Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of 
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time 
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall 
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall 
be subject to retirement at least once every three years. Mr. Ng Kin Siu and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang will retire as 
Directors. Mr. Ng Kin Siu and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages from 48 to 50 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has entered into a service contract with the 
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the month of Listing or the date of appointment 
and will continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms of the service contract. Independent 
non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three years initially and will continue thereafter unless 
terminated by either party giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any service contracts with the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment compensation other 
than the statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the 
Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a 
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during or at 
the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Company’s Articles of Association provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets 
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the 
duties of their office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides 
appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 
10 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the remuneration and compensation packages of the 
Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, time devoted to the Group and the performance of 
the Group. The Directors and other employees who have made valuable contributions to the Group may also 
receive options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

COMPETING AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS
The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholder of the 
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete 
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with 
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
A. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying 

Shares and Debentures
As at 31 December 2023, interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in 
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required (i) to 
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of 
the SFO), or (ii) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (iii) 
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director Capacity/Nature

Number of 
shares held/ 
interested in

Percentage of 
shareholding

Mr. Ng Kin Siu (Note) Interest in controlled 
corporation

746,930,000 56.08%

Note:

Mr. Ng Kin Siu beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Masterveyor Holdings Limited (“Masterveyor”) and is deemed, 

or taken to be, interested in all the shares of the Company held by Masterveyor for the purposes of the SFO. Mr. Ng Kin Siu is the 

Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company.

(ii) Long position in the ordinary shares of associated corporations

Name of Director

Name of 
associated 
corporation Capacity/Nature

Number of 
shares held/ 
interested in

Percentage of 
shareholding

Mr. Ng Kin Siu Masterveyor Beneficial owner 2 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor chief executive of the 
Company has registered an interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) 
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to 
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the 
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing 
Rules.
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B. Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, 
Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at 31 December 2023, the interest and short positions of the person (other than the Directors or chief 
executive of the Company) or company which was required to be recorded in the register required to be 
kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of shareholder
Capacity/
Nature of interest

Number of 
shares held/
Interested in

Long/
short 
position

Percentage of 
total issued 

share capital of 
the Company

Masterveyor Beneficial owner 746,930,000 Long 56.08%
Ms. Wong Chai Lin Interest of spouse (Note 1) 746,930,000 Long 56.08%
Gentle Soar Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 209,720,000 Long 15.74%
Mr. Gao Yunhong Interest in a controlled 

corporation (Note 2)
209,720,000 Long 15.74%

Pop Reach Limited Beneficial owner 89,480,000 Long 6.72%
Ms. Yeung So Lai Interest in a controlled 

corporation (Note 3)
89,480,000 Long 6.72%

Notes:

1. Ms. Wong Chai Lin is the spouse of Mr. Ng, an executive Director, the chief executive officer of the Company and the beneficial 

owner of Masterveyor, and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares in which Mr. Ng is interested for the purposes of 

the SFO.

2. Mr. Gao Yunhong is beneficially interested in the entire issued shares of Gentle Soar Limited and is therefore deemed to be 

interested in the shares of the Company held by Gentle Soar Limited by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Yeung So Lai is beneficially interested in the entire issued shares of Pop Reach Limited and is therefore deemed to be 

interested in the shares of the Company held by Pop Reach Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023 and so far as is known to the Directors, no person, 
other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set out in the section 
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and 
Debentures” above, had notified the Company of an interest or short position in the shares or underlying 
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded in the register and kept by the Company pursuant 
to Section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business of the Group 
are provided under note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party transactions 
constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best 
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company complies with the minimum public float as 
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
CWK CPA Limited will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2023 have been audited by CWK CPA Limited.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of 
the Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were 
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 
December 2023 and up to date of this annual report.

By Order of the Board 
Ng Kin Siu
Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of FDB Holdings Limited (formerly known as 
Steering Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out 
on pages 65 to 141, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, 
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory 
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related To Going Concern
We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements which mentions that the Group incurred 
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$59,284,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2023, and the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$4,853,000 and net liabilities of approximately 
HK$10,416,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s measures to address the going concern issue are also 
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements do not 
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matter is the matters that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on the matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Revenue recognition of contracting service

We identified the recognition of contract revenue 
for construction contracts as a key audit matter as 
they are quantitatively significant to the consolidated 
f inancial statements as a whole and there are 
significant judgements exercised by the management 
of the Group in determining the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation 
and the amount of contract revenue recognised.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the construction contracts revenue 
amounted to approximately HK$193,771,000 for the 
year ended 31 December 2023. As set out in note 5 
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group 
recognised contract revenue by reference to the 
progress of satisfying the performance obligation at 
the reporting date.

Our procedures in relation to the revenue  recognition 
of contracting service included: 

U n d e r s t a n d i n g  t h e  d e s i g n  a n d  t e s t i n g  t h e 
implementation of key internal controls over the 
revenue recognition of construction contract on a 
sample basis:

Evaluating the estimation of revenue and profit 
recognised on contracting service contracts, on a 
sample basis, by:

• Understanding the des ign and test ing the 
implementation of key internal controls over the 
revenue recognition of construction contract;

• Checking the accuracy of the contract revenue 
by agreeing the amount of progress billings, to 
billings issued to customers;

• Discussing with the project managers and the 
management of the Group to understand the 
status of the projects, identifying any variations 
and obtaining explanations for fluctuations in 
margins as to their reasonableness;

• Checking the total contract value and terms to 
agree to the underlying construction contracts 
entered into with the customers and other 
re levant  cor respondences and suppor t ing 
documents in respect of variation orders; and

• Checking the revenue recognised and the 
corresponding certificates issued before and 
subsequent to year end date and other relevant 
correspondences and supporting documents in 
respect of variation orders, on a sample basis, 
to evaluate the reasonableness of the revenue 
recognised.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued 
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS‘ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Chan Lok Hei.

CWK CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chan Lok Hei
Practising Certificate Number: P06654

Hong Kong
25 March 2024
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 5 193,771 357,154
Cost of services (200,923) (349,823)    

Gross (loss)/profit (7,152) 7,331
Other income 6 410 7,962
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary 34 – 10,902
Impairment losses under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model,  

net of reversal 7 (35,860) (6,292)
Administrative expenses (16,499) (21,393)
Finance costs 8 (183) (98)    

Loss before tax from continuing operations 9 (59,284) (1,588)
Income tax credit 12 – 36    

Loss for the year from continuing operations (59,284) (1,552)    

Discontinued operations
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 583    

Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax 33 – 583    

Loss for the year (59,284) (969)    

Other comprehensive income 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Reclassification of cumulative translation of foreign operations 33 – 53    

– 53    

Other comprehensive income for the year – 53    

Total comprehensive expenses for the year (59,284) (916)    

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company

From continuing operations (59,284) (1,552)
From discontinued operations – 583    

(59,284) (969)    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Total comprehensive (expenses)/income for the year  
attributable to:

Owners of the Company
From continuing operations (59,284) (1,499)
From discontinued operations – 583    

(59,284) (916)    

Loss per share, basic and diluted (HK cents) 13
— For continuing operations (4.5) (0.1)
— For discontinued operations – –*    

For continuing and discontinued operations (4.5) (0.1)    

* Amount less than HK$1 cent.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 574 668
Right-of-use assets 15 3,889 595    

4,463 1,263    

Current assets
Contract assets 16 49,043 93,572
Trade and other receivables 17 84,415 79,535
Tax recoverable – –
Pledged deposits 18 23,403 20,900
Bank balances and cash 18 35,208 31,589    

192,069 225,596    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 144,635 168,196
Contract liabilities 20 21,875 1,176
Amounts due to a shareholder 21 15,500 8,000
Amounts due to a joint venture 21 11,995 –
Lease liabilities 22 2,917 599    

196,922 177,971    

Net current (liabilities)/assets (4,853) 47,625    

Total assets less current liabilities (390) 48,888    

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 24 9,000 –
Deferred tax liabilities 23 20 20
Lease liabilities 22 1,006 –    

10,026 20    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Net (liabilities)/assets (10,416) 48,868    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 13,320 13,320
Reserves (23,736) 35,548    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (10,416) 48,868
Non-controlling interests – –    

Total (deficit)/equity (10,416) 48,868    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 141 were approved and authorised for issued by the board 
of directors on 25 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

MR. NG KIN SIU 
Chairman and Executive Director

MR. CHAN YUK SANG
Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2023
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Share  
capital Share premium

Other 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a) (Note b)         

As at 1 January 2022 13,320 145,939 1,000 2,771 (113,246) 49,784 121 49,905
Loss for the year – – – – (969) (969) – (969)
Other comprehensive loss for the year – – – 53 – 53 – 53         

Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year – – – 53 (969) (916) – (916)         

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) – – – – – – (121) (121)         

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 13,320 145,939 1,000 2,824 (114,215) 48,868 – 48,868
Loss for the year – – – – (59,284) (59,284) – (59,284)         

Total comprehensive expenses for the year – – – – (59,284) (59,284) – (59,284)         

As at 31 December 2023 13,320 145,939 1,000 2,824 (173,499) (10,416) – (10,416)         

Notes:

a. OTHER RESERVE
As part of the group reorganisation for the listing of the shares of FDB Holdings Limited (formerly known as Steering Holdings Limited) 
(the “Company”) on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”), there are series of restructuring within the 
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) mainly involved interspersing investment holding entities between 
the operating subsidiaries and Mr. Ng Kin Siu. The difference between the Company’s share capital and the combined share capital of 
Harvest Building Consultancy Limited, Win Lee Building Engineering Limited (“Win Lee”), Marvo Architecture Limited, FDB Innovations 
Limited, and FDB Development Limited was credited to other reserve.

b. TRANSLATION RESERVE
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations 
and presentation currency.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (59,284) (1,588)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 165 110
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 2,529 2,523
Finance costs 8 183 98
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal 7 35,860 6,292
Bank interest income 6 (144) (26)
Release of long due accruals 6 – (4,842)
Gain on modification of lease 6 – (523)
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary 33 – (10,902)    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (20,691) (8,858)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (9,361) 43,904
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets 13,150 (11,418)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (23,562) 7,212
Increase in contract liabilities 20,699 1,176    

Cash (used in)/from operations (19,765) 32,016
Income tax refunded – 180    

NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (19,765) 32,196    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (71) (593)
Initial payment of acquiring right-of-use asset (83) (96)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries 33 – (5,055)
Placement of pledged bank deposits (2,503) (11,017)
Interest received 144 26    

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,513) (16,735)    

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (35) –
New bank borrowings raised 9,000 –
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,563) (2,816)
Advance from a shareholder 7,613 23,000
Repayments to a shareholder (113) (15,000)
Advance from a joint venture 15,650 –
Repayments to a joint venture (3,655) –    

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 25,897 5,184    

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,619 20,645
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING  

OF THE YEAR 31,589 10,944    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 35,208 31,589    

The accompanying note form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 2023 71



1. GENERAL
FDB Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and registered in 
the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated 
and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 19 March 2015. The shares of the Company are listed on the Main 
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Its immediate holding company is Masterveyor Holdings Limited (“Masterveyor”), a company incorporated 
in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate controlling shareholder is Mr. Ng Kin Siu (“Mr. Ng”), who is an 
executive director, chief executive officer of the Company and chairman of the Board.

The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the 
corporate information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of contracting business and project management.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) to suit the needs of the 
shareholders and investors, which is also the functional currency of the Company. All values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise stated.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily 
effective for the Group's annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and  
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 

from a Single Transaction 
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice 

Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or 
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with 
“material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered 
together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected 
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of 
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of 
the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all 
accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. 
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not 
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended 
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and 
to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance 
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and 
performance but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the HKICPA guidance on the 
accounting implications of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — 
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees 
under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee 
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual employee. 
Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF 
contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). In June 2022, the Government 
of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) 
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued 
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the 
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, 
under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date 
(instead of the date of termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the 
employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting 
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and 
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the 
Group has implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation 
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more relevant information about the effects of the 
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Company considered the accrued benefits arising from employer MPF contributions that have been 
vested with the employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed 
contribution by the employee towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the practical 
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction 
of the service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA’s guidance, as a result of the Abolition, these contributions are no longer considered 
“linked solely to the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF contributions 
after the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would 
not be appropriate to view the contributions as “independent of the number of years of service” and 
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed 
contributions should be attributed to periods of service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit 
applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. Accordingly, the Group has recognised a cumulative catch-up 
adjustment in profit or loss for the service cost, interest expense and remeasurement effect from changes 
in actuarial assumptions for the year ended 31 December 2022, with corresponding adjustment to the LSP 
obligation. The cumulative catch-up adjustment is calculated as the difference at the enactment date (16 
June 2022) between the carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated under paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 
before the Abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 
19 after the Abolition.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the HKICPA guidance on the 
accounting implications of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — 
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)
By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply the 
Practical expedient and reattribute the deemed employee contributions on a straightline basis from the 
date when services by employees first lead to their benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance 
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments as of 31 December 
2022 or for the year ended was not material and hence no adjustment was made to the beginning retained 
earnings, or another component of equity.

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but 
are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture¹ 

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback²
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements²
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered 
material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in 
the accounting policies as below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements 
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope 
of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable 
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so 
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Going concern assessment
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes the 
continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business.

The validity of which depends upon the successful implementation and outcome of the following measures 
to be undertaken by the Group. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into account 
the following measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as 
and when they fall due in the next twelve months from 31 December 2023.

Management continues to closely monitor the liquidity position of the Group, which includes the sensitivity 
analysis of forecast bank and cash balances for various factors to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.

The Group sustained a loss of approximately HK$59,284,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, and 
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$4,853,000, net liabilities of 
approximately HK$10,416,000 and bank borrowings amounting to HK$9,000,000. The Group’s pledged bank 
deposits and cash at bank amounted to approximately HK$23,403,000 and HK$35,208,000, respectively as 
at 31 December 2023. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the directors of the 
Company has reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast which cover a period of not less than twelve months 
from 31 December 2023.

Cash flow forecasts, which assume the continuity of normal business activity, indicate that the Group will 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its operational, existing contractual debt obligation and capital expenditure 
requirements for at least twelve month period from the date of the end of the reporting period. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 2023 77



3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Going concern assessment (Continued)
In the event forecast cash flow is not achieved, the directors of the Company have also evaluated other 
plans that could be undertaken to improve their liquidity position as follow:

1) The Group is actively and regularly reviewing its capital structure and sourcing additional capital by 
raising new debt financing or, issuing new shares, where appropriate; and

2) The Group is closely monitoring its operations and implementing cost control on operating costs and 
administrative expenses with an aim to attain positive and sustainable cash flow from operations.

Taking into account all assumptions and plans as described above, the directors of Company are of the 
opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital to maintain its operations and to meet its 
financial obligations as and when they fall due for at least twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. The directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated 
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, uncertainty exists as to whether the revision of loan covenant clause or 
whether the bank facilities can be renewed and all other alternative operating and financing plans as the 
Group is still negotiating with its external financiers on the financing to the Group depending on the market 
condition. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made 
to reduce the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for financial 
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current 
assets and current liabilities respectively, if applicable. The effects of these adjustments have not been 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired 
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to 
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which 
represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the 
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Non-current assets held for sale
Discontinued operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which 
can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the group and which represents a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate 
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a 
view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to 
be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face of the statement 
of profit or loss, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the 
disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or 
a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good 
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that 
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment 
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to 
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a 
net basis.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction 
price)
For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction 
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, except for the allocation 
of discounts and variable considerations.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation is 
determined at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good 
or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group 
estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any 
performance obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete 
satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input 
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction 
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance 
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration
For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to 
which it will be entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount, depending 
on which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it 
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when 
the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including updating 
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the 
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the 
reporting period.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines 
whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services 
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other 
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred 
to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or 
service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided 
by another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an 
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in 
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Performance obligation for contracts with customers
Contracting service
The Group provides contracting services for alteration and addition works, maintenance, specialist works 
and new development to customers. Such services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied 
over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls. Revenue is recognised for 
these contracting services based on the stage of completion of the contract using the input method.

The Group’s construction contracts include payment schedules which require stage payments over the 
construction period once certain specified milestones are reached. The Group requires certain customers 
to provide upfront deposits ranging from 10% to 30% of the total contract sum. When the Group receives a 
deposit before construction commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, 
until the revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract, is recognised over the period in 
which the contracting services are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the 
services performed because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving 
specified milestones. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become 
unconditional. The Group typically transfers the contract assets to trade receivables within 12 months from 
the end of the reporting period.

Retention receivables, prior to the expiration of the defect liability period, are classified as contract assets, 
which ranges from one to two years from the date of the practical completion of the construction. The 
relevant amount of contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables when the defect liability period 
expires. The defect liability period serves as an assurance that the contracting services performed comply 
with agreed upon specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased separately.

The Group bills and collects payments from its customers based on the payment schedules stipulated in 
the consultancy service contracts.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset 
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business 
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under 
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be 
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the 
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease 
components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, and 
instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease 
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the 
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the 
lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from 
Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful 
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated 
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in 
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present 
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, 
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit 
in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option 
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, 
in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review, in 

which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 
the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Lease modifications
Except for Covid-19-related rent concession in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group 
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying 
assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price 
for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the 
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease 
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the 
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
price of the lease component. The associated non-lease components are included in the respective lease 
components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of interest rate 
benchmark reform
For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark 
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the 
revised lease payments using the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the 
related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only 
if, both of these conditions are met:

• the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate benchmark reform; and

• the new basis for determining the lease payments is economically equivalent to the previous basis 
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the modification).
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions
In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group 
has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all 
of the following conditions are met:

• the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the 
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

• any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

• there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent 
concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a 
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. 
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding 
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to 
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Company’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s 
presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation reserve are not 
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a 
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of 
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in 
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or 
loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to 
non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial 
disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or 
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or 
loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. 

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are 
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be 
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an 
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and 
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking 
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding 
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its 
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit 
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to 
the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 
transferred to share capital and share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date 
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will 
be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) 
before tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the 
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions 
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group 
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. 
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are 
not recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising 
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting 
from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition 
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity 
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax 
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated 
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise 
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or 
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying 
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or 
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and 
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets 
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on 
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount 
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value 
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been 
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating 
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of 
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the 
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Contingent liabilities 
A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events but is not recognised because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected 
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will 
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except 
in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables 
arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss and are included in the “other income” 
line item.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and 
collecting contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial application of a 
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor 
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business 
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at 
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting 
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to impairment assessment under 
HKFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
(including contract assets, trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances) which 
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date 
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of 
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL 
that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at 
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables, retention receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant 
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 202394



3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to impairment assessment under 
HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the 
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making 
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) 
or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in 
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are 
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to impairment assessment under 
HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(ii) Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in 
the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs 
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a 
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to impairment assessment under 
HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the 
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is 
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical 
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade and retention receivables and contract assets are considered on a 
collective basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as 
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration on the following characteristic when 
formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit rating where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue 
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost 
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by 
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and retention receivables, deposits to a 
credit services provider and a financial institution, other receivables from a credit service provider 
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance 
account.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) 
Financial assets (Continued) 
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition 
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not 
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Non-substantial modifications of financial assets
For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not result in derecognition, the carrying 
amount of the relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual 
cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees 
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are amortised over the 
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss 
at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts due to a shareholder, bank borrowings and 
lease liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(a) has control or joint control over the Group;

(b) has significant influence over the Group; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(a) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiaries is related to the others);

(b) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group which the other entity is a member);

(c) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(d) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity;
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(ii) (Continued)

(e) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 
an entity related to the Group;

(f) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i);

(g) a person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(h) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influence by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

• that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

• children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

• dependants of the person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or 
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue and profit recognition of contracting service and contract assets
The Group provides contracting service for alteration and addition works, maintenance, specialist works 
and new development.

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of contracting service and contract assets according to 
the Group’s management’s estimation of the total outcome of the contracting service contracts as well as 
the stage of completion of contracting service which is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to 
the satisfaction of the performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that 
performance obligation. Estimated construction revenue is determined with reference to the terms of the 
relevant contract.

Construction cost which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of materials are estimated by 
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors/suppliers/
vendors involved and the experience of the management.

The management is also required to exercise significant judgement in their assessment of the 
completeness and accuracy of forecasted costs to complete and the ability to deliver contracts within 
forecasted timescales.

Notwithstanding that management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs 
for the construction contract as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms of its 
total revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will have significant impact on 
the revenue and profit recognised and the contract assets.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of contract assets in relation to contracting service was 
approximately HK$49,043,000 (2022: HK$93,572,000).
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment assessment of ECL for trade and retention receivables and contract 
assets
The Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade and retention receivables and contract assets 
based on provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that have similar loss patterns, after 
considering internal credit ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status 
of respective trade and retention receivables and contract assets. Estimated loss rates are based on 
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking 
information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting 
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information 
are considered. In addition, trade and retention receivables and contract assets that are credit-impaired 
are assessed for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit impaired trade and retention 
receivables and contract assets is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit losses.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to financial uncertainty triggered by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has assessed the expected loss rates in the current year as there is a 
prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit default rates. The information about the ECL and 
the Group’s trade and retention receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Notes 30b, 17 and 16 
respectively.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group recognises revenue from continuing operations was contracting business and project 
management (the “contracting service”).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
Continuing operations

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Types of service
Contracting service 193,771 357,154

Geographical markets
Hong Kong 193,771 357,154

Timing of revenue recognition
Over time 193,771 357,154   

(ii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for 
contracts with customers
Continuing operations
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially 
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as 
follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 399,598 169,322
More than one year but not more than two years – –
More than two years 166,910 166,910   

566,508 336,232   
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(ii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for 

contracts with customers (Continued)
Segment information
The chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) has been identified as the executive directors who 
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The 
CODM has determined the operating segments based on these reports.

Information reported to CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment 
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and 
no discrete operating segment financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating segment 
information is presented.

All of the Group’s activities are carried out in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s assets and liabilities 
are located in Hong Kong. Accordingly, no analysis by geographical basis is presented.

Information about major customers
Continuing operations
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the 
Group are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Customer A 61,982 N/A1

Customer B 49,235 95,342
Customer C 20,237 102,821
Customer D N/A1 44,166
Customer E N/A1 38,007   

1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of the Group in the respective year.

No other revenue from transaction with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the total 
revenue of the Group for both years.
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6. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations
Bank interest income 144 26
Gain on modification of lease – 523
Government grant (Note a) – 2,298
Release of long due accruals (Note b) – 4,842
Management fee income 80 –
Insurance claim recoverable 186 –
Others – 273   

410 7,962   

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised government grants of approximately HK$2,298,000 relates to 

Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has release approximately HK$4,842,000 of accruals balance that has past 

due over 6 years but no invoices received after contact.

7. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER ECL MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations
Impairment losses/(Reversal of impairment losses) recognised on:

— Trade receivables 2,387 (1,145)
— Retention receivables 2,224 190
— Other receivables and deposits (130) 1,484
— Contract assets 31,379 5,763   

35,860 6,292   

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 30b.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 2023 105



8. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations
Interest on:

— Lease liabilities 148 98
— Advance payment 35 –   

183 98   

9. LOSS BEFORE TAX

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (Note 10) 2,655 3,999
Salaries and other allowances 30,617 41,431
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, excluding those of directors 1,152 1,181   

Total staff costs 34,424 46,611   

Auditor’s remuneration 725 929
Sub-contracting cost in cost of services 151,528 273,597
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 165 110
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 2,529 2,523   
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing 
Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Directors’  
fees

Salaries 
and other 

allowances

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Executive directors:
Ng Kin Siu (chief executive officer) – 2,038 18 2,056

Independent non-executive directors:
Chan Yuk Sang 168 – – 168
Wan Chi Wai Anthony (Note a) 95 – – 95
Lau Kwok Fai Patrick 168 – – 168
Wong Chun Wah Kelvin (Note b) 168 – – 168     

599 2,038 18 2,655     

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Directors’  
fees

Salaries 
and other 

allowances

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Executive directors:
Ng Kin Siu (chief executive officer) – 3,435 18 3,453

Independent non-executive directors:
Chan Yuk Sang 168 – – 168
Wan Chi Wai Anthony (Note a) 168 – – 168
Lau Kwok Fai Patrick 168 – – 168
Wong Chun Wah Kelvin (Note b) 42 – – 42     

546 3,435 18 3,999     
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)
Directors (Continued)
Notes:

(a) Mr. Wan Chi Wai Anthony was retired on 31 May 2023.

(b) Mr. Wong Chun Wah Kelvin was appointed on 1 October 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the 
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the current and prior years. There was no arrangement 
under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 
current and prior years.

Employees
The five highest paid employees of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 included one director 
(2022: one director), details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 above.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration of the remaining four (2022: four) highest paid 
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries and other allowances 3,538 4,425
Discretionary bonus – 201
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 72 69   

3,610 4,695   

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose remuneration 
fell within the following band is as follows:

2023 2022
No. of 

employees
No. of 

employees   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 2   

4 4   

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the top five highest paid employees as an inducement to join, or 
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the current and prior years.
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11. DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid, declared or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2023, nor has any 
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: Nil).

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations
Current tax:

Hong Kong – –   
– –
– –

Deferred tax (Note 23) – 36   

Income tax Credit – 36   

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of 
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The 
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed 
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated 
at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated 
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations
Loss before tax (59,284) (1,588)   

Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (9,782) (262)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (816) (382)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7,560 459
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,039 204
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised (1) 17   

Income tax credit for the year – 36   
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13. LOSS PER SHARE
From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations 
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

(Loss)/earnings
Loss for the year from continuing operations attributable to  

owners of the Company (59,284) (1,552)
Earnings for the year from discontinued operations attributable to 

owner of the Company – 583   

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share from continuing and 
discontinued operations (59,284) (969)   

2023 2022
’000 ’000   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic 

and diluted loss per share 1,332,000 1,332,000   

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share 
from continuing and discontinued operations were the same as the basic loss per share as there were no 
potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture and 
fixtures

Office 
equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Cost
As at 1 January 2022 3,092 200 1,628 4,920
Additions 450 59 84 593
Disposal/written-off (2,929) (161) (508) (3,598)     

As at 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 613 98 1,204 1,915

Additions – – 71 71     

As at 31 December 2023 613 98 1,275 1,986     

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As at 1 January 2022 3,028 195 1,512 4,735
Charged for the year 71 4 35 110
Disposal of subsidiaries (2,929) (161) (508) (3,598)     

As at 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 170 38 1,039 1,247

Charged for the year 105 13 47 165     

As at 31 December 2023 275 51 1,086 1,412     

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2023 338 47 189 574     

As at 31 December 2022 443 60 165 668     

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 2023 111



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, 
after taking into account their residual value, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease term, whichever is shorter
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%

The management has assessed that there is no impairment loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022.

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased 
properties

HK$’000  

As at 31 December 2023
Carrying amount 3,889  

As at 31 December 2022
Carrying amount 595  

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Depreciation charge for the year 2,529  

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Depreciation charge for the year 2,523  

The management has assessed that there is no impairment loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022.
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Year ended 
31 December 

2023

Year ended 
31 December 

2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Expense relating to short-term leases 795 687

Total cash outflow for leases 2,563 2,816

Additions to right-of-use assets (Note) 5,827 96

Termination to right-of-use assets – 527

Note: Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered and lease modification during the year.

For both years, the Group leases various offices and car parks for its operations. Lease contracts are 
entered into for fixed term of 3 months to 2 years, but may have extension and termination options as 
described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms and 
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group 
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for car parks and office. As at 31 December 2023 and 
2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-
term lease expense as disclosed above.

16. CONTRACT ASSETS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Contracting service (Note) 49,043 93,572   

Note: As at 31 December 2023, included in contract assets was retention held by customers for contract works amounting to 

approximately HK$18,981,000 (2022: HK$23,732,000), The retention money was expected to be recovered or settled in within twelve 

months from the end of the reporting period.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed and not billed 
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The contract assets are transferred 
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets recognised are set out in Note 3.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them in its 
normal operating cycle.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 30b.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade receivables 71,131 60,017
Less: allowance for ECL (5,609) (3,221)   

65,522 56,796   

Retention receivables (Note a) 16,800 9,681
Less: allowance for ECL (4,570) (2,346)   

12,230 7,335   

— Other receivables 4,227 7,630
Less: allowance for ECL (38) (169)   

4,189 7,461   

— Prepayment 794 6,275
— Sundry deposits 1,680 1,668   

2,474 7,943   

84,415 79,535   

Note:

(a) Retention money net of allowance for ECL in relation to completed projects of approximately HK$934,000 (2022: HK$2,086,000) was 

unbilled as at 31 December 2023. The Group has an unconditional right to the payment of the unbilled retention receivables which 

is expected to be billed within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 0 to 90 days to its customers. The following is an aged 
analysis of the Group’s trade receivables net of allowance for ECL presented based on certificate/invoice 
dates:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade receivables:
1–30 days 39,603 30,676
31–60 days 10,653 –
61–90 days – 767
91–180 days – 136
Over 180 days 15,266 25,217   

65,522 56,796   
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Receivables in relation to billed retention money:
1–30 days 6,284 150
31–60 days – –
61–90 days – –
91–180 days – 95
Over 180 days 5,012 5,004   

11,296 5,249   

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate 
carrying amount of approximately HK$30,444,000 (2022: HK$26,119,000) which are past due as at the 
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, approximately HK$18,879,000 (2022: HK$25,353,000) have been 
past due 90 days or more and are not considered as in default due to the long-term/on-going relationship 
with and good repayment record of these customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over these 
balances.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 30b.

18. PLEDGED DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
As at 31 December 2023, deposits amounting to approximately HK$23,403,000 (2022: HK$20,900,000) 
have been pledged to banks or insurance company to secure banking facilities granted to the Group and 
guarantee line for issuing surety bonds (see Note 27). The bank balances and cash comprise cash held by 
the Group, bank balances and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
The pledged deposit/bank balances carry interest at market rates which are as follows:

2023 2022   

Range of interest rates per annum:
Pledged deposits Nil to 1.500% Nil to 1.500%
Bank balances 0.001% to 0.010% 0.001% to 0.010%   

Details of impairment assessment of pledged deposits and bank balances are set out in Note 30b.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade payables 44,570 63,642
Retention payables (Note) 34,956 35,388
Accrued subcontracting charges 63,460 68,167
Accrued operating expenses 1,649 999   

144,635 168,196   

Note: In accordance with the normal practice of the industry, a certain percentage of contract sums is usually withheld by the Group as 

retention money for a period of one to two years after the work of subcontractors has been completed.

The credit period on trade payables is 0 to 30 days.

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on invoice dates at the end of the reporting period is 
as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade payables:
1–30 days 35,524 53,178
31–60 days 2,783 –
61–90 days – –
Over 90 days 6,263 10,464   

44,570 63,642   
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20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Deposits from customers 21,875 1,176   

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current and prior years relates to 
carried-forward contract liabilities:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Revenue recognised in contracting service that was included in the 
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the respective years 1,176 –   

Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract liabilities recognised are as set out in Note 3.

21. AMOUNTS DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER/JOINT VENTURE
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

22. LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 2,917 599
Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years 1,006 –   

3,923 599
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under current 

liabilities (2,917) (599)   

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current 
liabilities 1,006 –   

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is 4.5% per annum (2022: 4.5% per annum).
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23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax 
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial 
reporting purposes:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Deferred tax liabilities 20 20   

20 20   

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements 
thereon:

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000   

As at 1 January 2022 (56) (56)
Credit to profit or loss 36 36   

As at 31 December 2022, 
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 (20) (20)   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$108,979,000 
(2022: HK$90,521,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised 
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 2023118



24. BANK BORROWINGS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Bank borrowings 9,000 –   

9,000 –   

Secured 9,000 –   

9,000 –   

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

The carrying amounts of above borrowings are repayable:
Within one year (Note) – –
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 861 –
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years 2,780 –
Within a period of more than five years 5,359 –   

9,000 –   

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities – –   

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 9,000 –   

Note:  The loan repayment for the next twelve months only consist of interest payments, with no principal amount due.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
Shares Amount

HK$’000   

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
Authorised:

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 4,000,000,000 40,000   

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022,  

1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 1,332,000,000 13,320   

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its qualifying employees 
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under 
the control of trustees. The Group contributes monthly to the MPF Scheme at the lower of 5% of relevant 
payroll costs, or HK$1,500 per month for each employee, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes 
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of 
their basic payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes. 
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce the existing 
level of contributions.

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, 
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying employees in Hong Kong under certain circumstances 
(e.g. dismissal by employers or upon retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, 
based on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) × 2/3 × Years of service
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26.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)
Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) 
(Continued)
Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of long service payment shall not exceed 
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to 
utilise the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof, for the 
purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement’).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits 
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take 
effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected 
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the 
LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/
negative returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date 
LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP 
obligation before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly wages 
immediately preceding the Transition Date and the years of service up to that date. The Amendment 
Ordinance has impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to employees that participate in MPF 
Scheme and the Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition.

27. SURETY BONDS
Certain customers of construction contracts undertaken by the Group require the group entities to issue 
guarantees for performance of contract works in the form of surety bonds and secured by pledged deposits 
(see Note 18). In addition, the Group provided a counter-indemnity to the financial institutions that issue 
such surety bonds.

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding amount of surety bonds of the Group was approximately 
HK$41,664,000 (2022: HK$41,664,000).
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group has following 
transactions and balances with related parties:

Relationships
Nature of balances/
transactions

As at/
For the year 

ended 
31/12/2023

As at/
For the year 

ended 
31/12/2022

HK$’000 HK$’000    

Joint ventures Management fee income 80 –
Amount due to 11,995 –    

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Compensation of key management personnel
The directors are identified as key management members of the Company, and their compensation during 
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were set out in Note 10.

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders and maintaining an adequate capital structure. The Group’s overall 
strategy remained unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes bank borrowings, amounts due 
to a shareholder and amounts due to a joint venture disclosed in Note 24 and 21, net of cash and cash 
equivalents and equity, comprising paid in capital and reserves.

Gearing ratio
The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors 
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through payment of 
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of 
existing debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Debts (note a) 36,495 8,000

Equity (note b) (10,416) 48,868

Debt to equity ratio -350.4% 16.4%   

Notes:

(a) Debts comprises including bank borrowings, amounts due to a shareholder and amounts due to a joint venture.

(b) Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
30a. Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 148,101 125,935   

148,101 125,935   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 119,944 107,629   

30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, pledged deposits, 
bank balances, trade and other payables, amounts due to a shareholder and lease liabilities. Details 
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with 
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The 
management manage and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities (see Note 
22 for details). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate 
bank balances and pledged deposits. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated 
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and pledged deposits.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 
management section of this note.

The directors of the Company consider that the overall interest rate risk is not significant as the 
fluctuation of the interest rates on bank balances and pledged deposits is minimal. Accordingly, no 
sensitivity analysis is prepared and presented.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign exchange risk
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is HKD for the year ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022 in which most of their transactions are denominated. The Group currently does not 
hedge transactions undertaken in foreign currencies but manages its exposure through constant 
monitoring to limited as much as possible the amount of its foreign currency exposures. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, and recognised assets and liabilities 
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. In addition, the Group’s 
foreign exchange position is monitored on an ongoing basis in order to minimise the impact from the 
fluctuation of foreign currency rate. The Group currently does not maintain a foreign currency hedging 
policy. However, management monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The management considers the foreign exchange exposure does not have a significant risk to the 
Group, no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable 
to trade and other receivables, contract assets, pledged deposits and bank balances. The Group 
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its 
financial assets and contract assets.

Information about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the 
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible 
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that 
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable 
amount trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment loss is 
recognised for irrecoverable amount. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the 
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk as at 31 December 2023 on the trade 
and retention receivables from the Group’s five major customers amounting to approximately 
HK$43,148,000 (2022: HK$51,062,000) and accounted for 55% (2022: 84%) of the Group’s total trade 
and retention receivables. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the major customers of the 
Group are reputable organisation in the market. The directors of the Company consider that the credit 
risk is limited in this regard.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances 
individually or based on provision matrix. Credit-impaired debtors are assessed for impairment 
individually, the remaining trade and retention receivables and contract assets are grouped under a 
provision matrix based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for 
recurring customers and current past due exposure for the new customers. During the year ended 
31 December 2023, net impairment losses of approximately HK$4,611,000 and net impairment losses 
HK$31,379,000 (2022 net impairment losses: HK$955,000 and HK$5,763,000) are recognised for trade 
and retention receivables and contract assets, respectively. Details of the quantitative disclosures are 
set out below in this note.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits
The directors of the Company estimate the loss rates of deposits to a credit service provider and a 
financial institution and other receivables from a credit service provider based on historical credit 
loss experience of these counterparties as well as other factors, including the operation scale and 
business performance of these counterparties. For the remaining other receivables and deposits, 
the directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of these 
receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The Group 
provided impairment based on 12m ECL for these other receivable and deposits that the directors of 
the Company believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial 
recognition and based on lifetime ECL for these other receivable and deposits which had significant 
increase in credit risk or credit-impaired during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, reversal of impairment losses of approximately HK$130,000 
are recognised for the remaining other receivables and deposits (2022: reversal of impairment losses 
of approximately HK$1,484,000).

Pledged deposits and bank balances
Credit risk on pledged deposits and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are reputable 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m 
ECL for pledged deposits and bank balances by reference to information relating to probability of 
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades published by external credit rating 
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on pledged deposits and bank balances is 
considered to be insignificant.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FDB HOLDINGS LIMITED  •  ANNUAL REPORT 2023126



30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal  
credit rating Description

Trade receivables/
contract assets

Other financial 
assets/other items    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk 
of default and does not have 
any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL —  
not credit-impaired

12m ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after 
due dates but usually settle in 
full

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant 
increases in credit risk since 
initial recognition through 
information developed 
internally or external 
resources

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL — 
not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the 
asset is credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL — 
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL — 
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating 
that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and 
the Group has no realistic 
prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, 
which are subject to ECL assessment:

External  
credit rating

Internal  
credit rating

12m or  
lifetime ECL

Gross  
carrying amount

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000      

Financial assets at 
amortised costs

Trade and retention 
receivables

N/A Note 1 Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)  
(provision matrix)

82,693 66,519

N/A Loss Credit-impaired 5,238 3,179      

87,931 69,698      

Other receivables and 
deposits

N/A Low risk 12m ECL 5,868 9,315

      

Bank balances Baa2 to A1 N/A 12m ECL 35,208 31,589      

Pledged deposit Baa2 to A1 N/A 12m ECL 23,403 20,900      

Other item

Contract assets N/A Note 1 Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)  
(provision matrix)

50,989 102,148

N/A Loss Credit-impaired 38,007 –      

88,996 102,148      

Note 1:

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the 

loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items by using a 

provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — internal credit rating
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its 
customers. The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade 
and retention receivables and contract assets which are assessed based on provision matrix 
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying amount 
of approximately HK$5,238,000 (2022: HK$3,179,000) were assessed individually based on the 
recoverability with reference to time overdue and repeated attempts made by the Group including but 
not limited to issuance of demand letters and legal actions taken by the Group.

Gross carrying amount

2023 2022

Internal credit rating
Average 
loss rate

Trade and 
retention 

receivables
Contract 

assets
Average  
loss rate

Trade and 
retention 

receivables
Contract 

assets
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

Low risk 3.82% 58,643 88,996 1.64% 31,517 102,148
Watch list 11.00% 24,050 – 4.62% 35,002 –       

82,693 88,996 66,519 102,148       

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected 
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue 
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information 
about specific debtors is updated. The contract assets have substantially the same risk characteristics 
as the trade receivables for the same type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the 
loss rates for trade and retention receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for 
contract assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised impairment allowance of 
approximately HK$5,146,000 and HK$39,751,000 (2022: HK$1,644,000 and HK$8,338,000) and reversed 
impairment  allowance of approximately HK$535,000 and HK$8,372,000 (2022: HK$2,599,000 and 
HK$2,575,000) for trade and retention receivables and contract assets respectively, based on the 
provision matrix.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade and 
retention receivables under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit- 

impaired)

Lifetime 
ECL (credit- 

impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 January 2022 3,343 3,179 6,522
Impairment loss recognised 1,644 – 1,644
Reversal of Impairment loss recognised (2,599) – (2,599)    

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2,388 3,179 5,567
Impairment loss recognised 3,087 2,059 5,146
Reversal of Impairment loss recognised (535) – (535)    

As at 31 December 2023 4,940 5,238 10,178    

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for contract assets 
under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL 
(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

As at 1 January 2022 2,811 – 2,811
Impairment loss recognised 8,338 – 8,338
Reversal of Impairment loss recognised (2,575) – (2,575)    

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 
2023

8,574 – 8,574

Impairment loss recognised 1,744 38,007 39,751
Reversal of Impairment loss recognised (8,372) – (8,372)    

As at 31 December 2023 1,946 38,007 39,953    
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of ECL that has been recognised for other receivables and 
deposits:

12m ECL
HK$’000  

As at 1 January 2022 195
Impairment loss recognised 1,484
Written off (1,489)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (4)
Reversal of Impairment loss recognised (1)  

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 185
Impairment loss recognised 1
Reversal of Impairment loss recognised (131)  

As at 31 December 2023 55  

Liquidity risk
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains levels of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilization of bank borrowings and 
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. 
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a 
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of 
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities are based 
on the agreed repayment dates.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
30b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity table

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

Repayable on 
demand or 
less than 1 

year
Repayable in 
1 to 5 years

Repayable in 
over 5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 
carrying 

value
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

As at 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables – 79,526 – – 79,526 79,526
Amounts due to a shareholder – 15,500 – – 15,500 15,500
Amounts due to a joint venture – 11,995 – – 11,995 11,995
Bank Borrowings 3.63 – 5,020 5,867 10,887 9,000
Lease Liabilities 4.50 3,034 1,024 – 4,058 3,923       

110,055 6,044 5,867 121,966 119,944       

Financial guarantee contract (Note) – 41,664 – – 41,664 41,664       

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

Repayable on 
demand or 

less than  
1 year

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 
carrying 

value
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

As at 31 December 2022
Trade and other payables – 99,030 99,030 99,030
Amounts due to a shareholder – 8,000 8,000 8,000
Lease liabilities 4.50 608 608 599     

107,638 107,638 107,629     

Financial guarantee contract (Note) – 41,664 41,664 –     

Note:  Certain customers of construction contracts undertaken by the Group require the group entities to issue guarantees 

for performance of contract works in the form of surety bonds (see Note 27). The amount included above for financial 

guarantee contract represented the amount of counter-indemnity the Group provided to the financial institutions that issue 

such surety bonds.
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31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, 
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows 
from financing activities.

Interest 
payable 

included in 
trade and

other
payable

Amounts 
due to a 

shareholder

Amounts 
due to  
a joint 

venture
Lease 

liabilities
Bank 

borrowings Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 24)       

As at 1 January 2022 – 14,149 – 4,384 – 18,533
Financing cash flows – 8,000 – (2,816) – 5,184
Disposal of a subsidiary – (14,149) – (496) – (14,645)
Interest expenses (Note 9) – – – 98 – 98
New leases entered/lease modification – – – 96 – 96
Leases modification – – – (667) – (667)       

As at 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 – 8,000 – 599 – 8,599

Financing cash flows (35) 7,500 11,995 (2,563) 9,000 25,897
Interest expenses (Note 9) 35 – – 148 – 183
New leases entered – – – 5,743 – 5,743
Leases modification – – – (4) – (4)       

As at 31 December 2023 – 15,500 11,995 3,923 9,000 40,418       
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) adopted for a period of 10 years on, and 
commenced from, 16 September 2015 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors, eligible 
employees, consultant or adviser of the Group, the directors, employees, consultant or adviser of the 
Group may, at the discretion of the directors, be granted options (the “Options”) to subscribe for shares in 
the Company at a price determined by its directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing 
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of the offer of grant, 
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotation sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) 
the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant of the option.

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the total number of shares in respect of which 
options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company 
in issue at any point in time, and the number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any 
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point 
in time.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years from the date of its adoption. Options granted 
must be taken up not later than 7 days after the date of grant. A consideration of HK$1 is payable on 
acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The exercisable period of an option, which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant, is determined 
by the Board of Directors of the Company at their discretion.

No options have been granted since its adoption.
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33. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Disposal of financial information and technology service segment
Subsequent to the resignation of certain former directors of the Company (the “Outgoing Directors”) 
and senior management personnel of the Group who were responsible for the financial information and 
technology services segment on 14 December 2021, the Company has resolved that the Group shall 
cease the business of the financial information and technology services segment. On 24 March 2022, 
the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of the entire issued share capital in 
Growth Profit International Limited (“Growth Profit”) at the consideration of HK$1. Prior to its disposal, 
Growth Profit and its subsidiaries (the “Growth Profit Group”) were principally engaged in the provision 
of debt restructuring and debt collection services in the PRC, which was part of the financial information 
and technology services segment of the Group. Completion of the Growth Profit Disposal took place on 24 
March 2022.

As a result of the abovementioned disposals, the Group has completed the disposal of the entire financial 
information and technology services segment of the Group upon completion of the disposal of the Growth 
Profit Group on 24 March 2022.

Period from
1 January  

2022 to 
24 March 

2022
HK$’000  

Revenue –
Cost of services –  

Gross profit –
Other income –
Other gains and losses –
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal –
Administrative expenses –
Finance costs –  

Profit before tax –
Income tax expense –  

Profit for the period/year –
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 583  

Profit for the period/year from the discontinued operations 583  
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33. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
Disposal of financial information and technology service segment (Continued)
Profit for the period from the discontinued operation is arrived at after charging:

Period from  
1 January 2022 to 

24 March 2022
HK$’000  

Salaries and other allowances –
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, excluding those of directors –  

Total staff costs –  

* The amount is less than HK$1,000.

Cash flows from discontinued operation for the period/year are as follows:

Period from  
1 January 2022 to 

24 March 2022
HK$’000 

Net cash used in operating activities (1,393)
Net cash generated from investing activities –
Net cash used in financing activities –  
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33.  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
Disposal of financial information and technology service segment (Continued)
Growth Profit Disposal
On 24 March 2022, the Group entered into the Growth Profit Disposal. Prior to the Growth Profit Disposal, 
the Growth Profit Group was principally engaged in the debt restructuring and debt collection services 
of the financial information and technology services segment in the PRC, which has been classified as 
disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2021.

Upon the completion of the Growth Profit Disposal on 24 March 2022, Growth Profit Group ceased to be 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group and the Group ceased to have any interests in Growth Profit Group, 
hence the results, cash flows, assets and liabilities of Growth Profit Group were no longer consolidated in 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group after that date.

The analysis of assets and liabilities of Growth Profit Group at the date of the Growth Profit Disposal were 
as follows:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 11
Trade and other receivables 4,634
Bank balances and cash 1,393
Trade and other payable (6,553)  

(515)
Release of translation reserve 53
Non-controlling interests (121)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 583  

Total consideration –*  

Net cashflow arising on disposal:

HK$’000

Cash consideration received –*
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,393)  

(1,393)  

* The amount is less than HK$1,000.
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34. GAIN ON DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY
During the Relevant Period, a winding-up order was made by the High Court against Jet Speed Asia 
Pacific Limited (“Jet Speed”) at the hearing of the Petition on 27 April 2022 pursuant to the Companies 
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the 
Official Receiver of Hong Kong has been appointed as the provisional liquidator of Jet Speed. As a result 
of the liquidation and appointment of liquidators, the Group lost control over Jet Speed and it ceased to 
be subsidiary of the Company with effect from 27 April 2022. A gain on deconsolidation of the subsidiary 
of approximately HK$10,902,000 was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 
December 2022.

The analysis of assets and liabilities of Jet Speed at the date of loss of control were as follows (before intra-
group elimination):

HK$’000

Bank balances and cash 3,662
Trade and other payables (415)
Amounts due to a shareholder (14,149)
Amounts due to the Company (26,220)  

Net liabilities being disposed (37,122)  

Net liabilities being disposed 37,122
Amounts due to the Company (26,220)  

Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary 10,902  

Net cashflow arising on loss of control:

HK$’000

Bank balances and cash (3,662)  
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
General information of subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

Name of subsidiary

Place and date 
of incorporation/
operation

Equity interest 
attributable to the 

Company

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registered capital Principal activities

2023 2022      

FDB & Associates Limited* BVI/Hong Kong  
25 February 2015

100% 100% Ordinary share  
USD1

Investment holding

Win Lee Building Hong Kong 100% 100% Ordinary shares 
HK$1,000,000

Contracting business 
and project 
management 
mainly for property 
refurbishment and 
renovation

深圳和事佬智能科技 
有限公司

The PRC 
11 June 2020  
(Note a)

– – Registered 
RMB10,000,000

Financial information 
and technology 
service

*  Directly held by the Company

Note a: The company was disposed of on 24 March 2022.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries 2 2   

2 2   

Current assets
Prepayments 94 439
Trade and other receivable 10 –
Amounts due from subsidiaries 184 1,422
Bank balances and cash 30 –   

318 1,861   

Current liabilities
Accrued charges 840 857
Amounts due to a subsidiary 5,399 –   

6,239 857   

Net current (liabilities)/assets (5,921) 1,004   

Net (liabilities)/assets (5,919) 1,006   

Capital and reserves
Share capital (Note 25) 13,320 13,320
Reserves (19,239) (12,314)   

Total equity (5,919) 1,006   
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserve

Share premium
Accumulated 

losses
Exchange 

reserve Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

As at 1 January 2022 145,939 (148,269) 2,824 494
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – (12,808) – (12,808)     

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 145,939 (161,077) 2,824 (12,314)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – (6,925) – (6,925)     

At 31 December 2023 145,939 (168,002) 2,824 (19,239)     

37. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
The directors of the Company are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken 
place subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to date of this annual report.
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RESULTS

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue 489,033 411,860 382,273 357,154 193,771      

Profit/(loss) before tax 214,196 (59,439) (64,830) (1,588) (59,284)      

Income tax (expenses)/credit (97,619) (671) – 36 –      

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive 
income for the year 91,590 (60,110) (64,831) (916) (59,284)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (4,222) 124,387 (66,160) (916) (59,284)
Non-controlling interests 95,812 (184,497) 1,329 – –      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Total assets 978,273 407,061 234,845 226,859 196,532
Total liabilities (550,084) (404,745) (184,425) (177,991) (206,948)      

Net assets 428,189 2,316 50,420 48,868 (10,416)      

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
For the five years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023
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